UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

CURRENT REPORT

Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Date of Report (Date of earliest event reported): July 8, 2024

UNITIL CORPORATION

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

New Hampshire (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation) 1-8858 (Commission File Number) 02-0381573 (IRS Employer Identification No.)

6 Liberty Lane West, Hampton, New Hampshire (Address of principal executive offices)

03842-1720 (Zip Code)

Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (603) 772-0775

N/A (Former name or former address, if changed since last report)

| Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of the registrant under any of the following provisions: | | | |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------|
| | Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the | he Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425) | |
| | Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the | Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12) | |
| | Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule | 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 C | CFR 240.14d-2(b)) |
| | Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule | 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 C | CFR 240.13e-4(c)) |
| Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act: | | | |
| | Title of each class | Trading Symbol | Name of each exchange on which registered |
| | Common Stock, no par value | UTL | New York Stock Exchange |
| | | | |

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an emerging growth company as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act of 1933 (§230.405 of this chapter) or Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (§240.12b-2 of this chapter).

Emerging growth company \square

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act.

Item 1.01 Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement

Purchase Agreement

On July 8, 2024, Unitil Corporation, a New Hampshire corporation (the "Company"), entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (the "Purchase Agreement") among the Company, PHC Utilities, Inc., an Ohio corporation (the "Seller"), and, with respect to certain portions of the Purchase Agreement, Hearthstone Utilities, Inc., d/b/a Hope Companies, Inc., an Ohio corporation ("Parent"). The Seller is a subsidiary of Parent.

Neither the Company nor any of its controlled affiliates has any material relationship with Seller or Parent, other than with respect to the Purchase Agreement.

The following is a brief summary of the material terms and conditions of the Purchase Agreement:

- Pursuant to, and subject to the terms and conditions of, the Purchase Agreement, the Company agreed to acquire all of the issued and
 outstanding shares of capital stock of Bangor Natural Gas Company, a Maine corporation ("Bangor"), from the Seller (the "Acquisition").
- The Company's aggregate purchase price for the shares of capital stock of Bangor is \$70.9 million in cash, which amount is subject to certain adjustments as provided in the Purchase Agreement.
- The Purchase Agreement does not include an escrow or holdback mechanism.
- The Seller has made customary representations, warranties, and covenants for a transaction of this type. The Seller's representations and warranties generally survive for 18 months after the closing of the Acquisition, subject to certain exceptions. The Seller's covenants include not soliciting other acquisition proposals.
- The Company has made customary representations, warranties, and covenants for a transaction of this type.
- The obligation of the Seller to consummate the Acquisition is subject to closing conditions, including (i) receipt of an order of the Maine Public Utilities Commission granting all approvals and authorizations required by the Maine Public Utility Code and regulations promulgated by the Maine Public Utilities Commission for the transaction contemplated by the Purchase Agreement (the "MPUC Transaction Approval Order") and (ii) other customary closing conditions for a transaction of this type.
- The obligation of the Company to consummate the Acquisition is subject to closing conditions, including (i) receipt of an order or orders of the Maine Public Utilities Commission that (a) includes the MPUC Transaction Approval Order, (b) finds that the value of the certain assets for cost of service ratemaking purposes is not less than the depreciated original cost of those assets, and (c) provides relief from and otherwise does not adopt any prior conditions or obligations that would materially impair Buyer's ability to operate the Company and (ii) other customary closing conditions for a transaction of this type.
- Parent will indemnify the Company, its affiliates, and their respective representatives for any and all losses based upon (i) any breach of Seller's representations and warranties contained in the Purchase Agreement (generally subject to a \$10,000 claim threshold, a \$350,000 basket, a \$175,000 deductible, and a \$10,000,000 cap), (ii) any breach of any covenant, agreement or obligation to be performed by Seller pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, and (iii) certain other matters.

- The Company will indemnify the Seller, its affiliates, and their respective representatives for any and all losses based upon (i) any breach of the Company's representations and warranties contained in the Purchase Agreement (generally subject to a \$10,000 claim threshold, a \$350,000 basket, a \$175,000 deductible, and a \$10,000,000 cap), (ii) any breach of any covenant, agreement or obligation to be performed by the Company pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, and (iii) certain other matters.
- The Purchase Agreement includes customary termination provisions for a transaction of this type.

The Company expects the transaction to close by the end of the first quarter of 2025. The Company expects to finance the Acquisition with a balanced mix of equity and debt, and has obtained committed debt financing from The Bank of Nova Scotia to fund the purchase price.

The foregoing summary of the Purchase Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby does not purport to be complete and is subject to, and qualified in its entirety by, the full text of the Purchase Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit 2.1.

The Purchase Agreement has been included to provide investors with information regarding its terms. The Purchase Agreement is not intended to provide any factual information about the Company or Bangor. The representations, warranties and covenants contained in the Purchase Agreement were made only for purposes of the Purchase Agreement and as of specific dates, were solely for the benefit of the parties to the Purchase Agreement, and are subject to limitations agreed upon by the parties to the Purchase Agreement, including being qualified by information in confidential disclosure schedules delivered by the parties to the Purchase Agreement in connection with the execution of the Purchase Agreement. The confidential disclosure schedules contain information that modifies, qualifies and creates exceptions to the representations and warranties contained in the Purchase Agreement. Moreover, the representations and warranties contained in the Purchase Agreement generally were made for the purpose of allocating contractual risk among the parties to the Purchase Agreement instead of establishing matters as facts, and may be subject to standards of materiality applicable to the parties to the Purchase Agreement that differ from those applicable to investors. Investors are not third-party beneficiaries under the Purchase Agreement and should not rely on the representations, warranties and covenants contained therein or any descriptions thereof as characterizations of the actual state of facts or condition of the Company or Bangor or any of their respective subsidiaries or affiliates. Additionally, information concerning the subject matter of the representations and warranties contained in the Purchase Agreement may change after the date of the Purchase Agreement, which subsequent information may or may not be fully reflected in the Company's public disclosures.

Debt Commitment Letter

On July 8, 2024, the Company entered into a debt commitment letter (the "**Debt Commitment Letter**") between the Company and The Bank of Nova Scotia.

Neither the Company nor any of its controlled affiliates has any material relationship with The Bank of Nova Scotia, other than with respect to the Debt Commitment Letter, advice provided by Scotiabank in connection with the Acquisition, and other customary banking and investment banking relationships.

Pursuant to, and subject to the terms and conditions of, the Debt Commitment Letter, The Bank of Nova Scotia has committed to provide a \$71.0 million senior unsecured delayed-draw term loan facility. If the Company draws on the facility, then the proceeds of the facility will be used (i) to pay (a) a portion of the consideration for the Acquisition and (b) fees, costs and expenses in connection with the consummation of the Acquisition and the closing of the facility and (ii) for general corporate purposes. The facility will have a maturity date of July 8, 2025. The debt commitment letter provides that the Company has an option for determining whether interest on loans under the facility will bear interest based on a base rate or based on the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR).

The debt commitment letter includes customary closing conditions, events of default, representations, warranties, and covenants for a transaction of its type. The debt commitment letter also includes covenants relating to (i) mandatory prepayments upon certain events and (ii) maintaining a 65% debt to capitalization ratio (tested quarterly on a consolidated basis).

Forward-Looking Statements

This Form 8-K contains forward-looking statements. All statements, other than statements of historical fact, included in this Form 8-K are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements include declarations regarding the Company's beliefs and current expectations. These forward-looking statements are subject to the inherent risks and uncertainties in predicting future results and conditions that could cause the actual results to differ materially from those projected in these forward-looking statements. Some, but not all, of the risks and uncertainties include the following: the ability of the parties to consummate the proposed purchase of Bangor in a timely manner or at all; the satisfaction of conditions precedent to consummation of the Acquisition, including the ability to secure regulatory approvals; the Company's ability to successfully complete its anticipated debt financing arrangements; the Company's ability to successfully integrate Bangor; the Company's ability to retain Bangor's management team and other employees; the Company's and Bangor's regulatory environment (including regulations relating to climate change, greenhouse gas emissions and other environmental matters); fluctuations in the supply of, the demand for, and the prices of, energy commodities and transmission and transportation capacity and the Company's and Bangor's ability to recover energy commodity costs in their rates; customers' preferred energy sources; severe storms and the Company's and Bangor's ability to recover storm costs in their rates; general economic conditions; variations in weather; long-term global climate change; unforeseen or changing circumstances, which could adversely affect the reduction of company-wide direct greenhouse gas emissions; the Company's and Bangor's ability to retain their existing customers and attract new customers; increased competition; and other risks detailed in the Company's filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission. These forward looking statements except as required by law

Item 2.03 Creation of a Direct Financial Obligation or an Obligation under an Off-Balance Sheet Arrangement of a Registrant

The disclosure in Item 1.01 under the headings "Debt Commitment Letter" and "Forward-Looking Statements" is incorporated by reference into this Item 2.03.

Item 7.01. Regulation FD Disclosure

On July 9, 2024, the Company issued a press release announcing its entry into the Purchase Agreement, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 99.1.

| Item 9.01 | Financial Statements and Exhibits |
|--------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| (d) Exhibits | |
| Number | <u>Exhibit</u> |
| 2.1* | Stock Purchase Agreement among Unitil Corporation, PHC Utilities, Inc., and |

| Number | <u>Exhibit</u> | Reference (1) |
|--------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------|
| 2.1* | Stock Purchase Agreement among Unitil Corporation, PHC Utilities, Inc., and | |
| | Hearthstone Utilities, Inc. (d/b/a Hope Companies, Inc.) dated July 8, 2024 | Filed herewith |
| 99.1 | Press release dated July 9, 2024 | Filed herewith |
| 104 | Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document) | Filed herewith |

^{*} Certain schedules and exhibits to the Stock Purchase Agreement have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K. These schedules and exhibits consist of (i) the Disclosure Schedules (as such term is defined in the Stock Purchase Agreement), (ii) the Transition Services Agreement (as such term is defined in the Stock Purchase Agreement), (iii) the Allocation Schedule (as such term is defined in the Stock Purchase Agreement). Untitl Corporation hereby undertakes to furnish supplementally copies of any of the omitted schedules and exhibits upon request by the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff.

⁽¹⁾ The exhibits referred to in this column by specific designations and dates have heretofore been filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission under such designations and are hereby incorporated by reference.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

UNITIL CORPORATION

By: /s/ Daniel J. Hurstak

Daniel J. Hurstak

Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and

Treasurer

Date: July 12, 2024

STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

between

PHC UTILITIES, INC.,

UNITIL CORPORATION,

and

HEARTHSTONE HOLDINGS, INC., D/B/A HOPE COMPANIES, INC.,

dated as of

July 8, 2024

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ιR | TICLE I DEFINITIONS | 1 |
|----|-----------------------------------------------------------------------|----|
| R | TICLE II PURCHASE AND SALE | 13 |
| | Section 2.01 Purchase and Sale | 13 |
| | Section 2.02 Purchase Price | 13 |
| | Section 2.03 Transactions to be Effected at the Closing | 13 |
| | Section 2.04 Purchase Price Adjustment | 14 |
| | Section 2.05 Closing | 17 |
| | Section 2.06 Withholding Tax | 17 |
| ιR | TICLE III REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER | 17 |
| | Section 3.01 Organization and Authority of Seller | 18 |
| | Section 3.02 Organization, Authority and Qualification of the Company | 18 |
| | Section 3.03 Capitalization | 19 |
| | Section 3.04 No Subsidiaries | 19 |
| | Section 3.05 No Conflicts; Consents | 19 |
| | Section 3.06 Financial Statements | 20 |
| | Section 3.07 Undisclosed Liabilities | 20 |
| | Section 3.08 Absence of Certain Changes, Events and Conditions | 21 |
| | Section 3.09 Material Contracts | 23 |
| | Section 3.10 Title to Assets; Real Property | 25 |
| | Section 3.11 Condition and Sufficiency of Assets | 27 |
| | Section 3.12 Intellectual Property | 27 |
| | Section 3.13 Inventory | 31 |
| | Section 3.14 Accounts Receivable | 31 |
| | Section 3.15 Customers and Suppliers | 31 |
| | Section 3.16 Insurance | 32 |
| | Section 3.17 Legal Proceedings; Governmental Orders | 33 |
| | Section 3.18 Compliance With Laws; Permits | 33 |
| | Section 3.19 Environmental Matters | 33 |

i

| | Section 3.20 Employee Benefit Matters | 35 |
|-----|-------------------------------------------------------|----|
| | Section 3.21 Employment Matters | 39 |
| | Section 3.22 Taxes | 41 |
| | Section 3.23 Books and Records | 43 |
| | Section 3.24 Related Party Transactions | 44 |
| | Section 3.25 Brokers | 44 |
| | Section 3.26 Certain Regulatory Matters | 44 |
| AR' | TICLE IV REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER | 45 |
| | Section 4.01 Organization and Authority of Buyer | 45 |
| | Section 4.02 No Conflicts; Consents | 45 |
| | Section 4.03 Investment Purpose | 46 |
| | Section 4.04 Brokers | 46 |
| | Section 4.05 Sufficiency of Funds | 46 |
| | Section 4.06 Legal Proceedings | 46 |
| AR' | TICLE V COVENANTS | 46 |
| | Section 5.01 Conduct of Business Prior to the Closing | 46 |
| | Section 5.02 Access to Information | 47 |
| | Section 5.03 No Solicitation of Other Bids | 47 |
| | Section 5.04 Notice of Certain Events | 48 |
| | Section 5.05 Resignations | 49 |
| | Section 5.06 Confidentiality | 49 |
| | Section 5.07 Non-Competition; Non-Solicitation | 49 |
| | Section 5.08 Governmental Approvals and Consents | 50 |
| | Section 5.09 Books and Records | 52 |
| | Section 5.10 Closing Conditions | 53 |
| | Section 5.11 Public Announcements | 53 |
| | Section 5.12 Certain Employment and Benefits Matters | 53 |
| | Section 5.13 Certain Regulatory Matters | 54 |
| | Section 5.14 Transition Planning | 54 |

| | Section 5.15 Insurance | 55 |
|----|-------------------------------------------------------------|----|
| | Section 5.16 Company Shared IT Systems | 55 |
| | Section 5.17 Financing | 55 |
| | Section 5.18 Certain Contracts, etc. | 55 |
| | Section 5.19 Permits | 56 |
| | Section 5.20 Further Assurances | 56 |
| AR | TICLE VI TAX MATTERS | 56 |
| | Section 6.01 Tax Covenants | 56 |
| | Section 6.02 Termination of Existing Tax Sharing Agreements | 57 |
| | Section 6.03 Tax Indemnification | 57 |
| | Section 6.04 Straddle Period | 58 |
| | Section 6.05 Section 338(h)(10) Election | 58 |
| | Section 6.06 Contests | 59 |
| | Section 6.07 Cooperation and Exchange of Information | 60 |
| | Section 6.08 Tax Treatment of Indemnification Payments | 60 |
| | Section 6.10 Survival | 60 |
| | Section 6.11 Overlap | 60 |
| AR | TICLE VII CONDITIONS TO CLOSING | 61 |
| | Section 7.01 Conditions to Obligations of All Parties | 61 |
| | Section 7.02 Conditions to Obligations of Buyer | 61 |
| | Section 7.03 Conditions to Obligations of Seller | 63 |
| AR | TICLE VIII INDEMNIFICATION | 65 |
| | Section 8.01 Survival | 65 |
| | Section 8.02 Indemnification By Seller | 65 |
| | Section 8.03 Indemnification By Buyer | 66 |
| | Section 8.04 Certain Limitations | 67 |
| | Section 8.05 Indemnification Procedures | 67 |
| | Section 8.06 Payments | 70 |
| | Section 8.07 Tax Treatment of Indemnification Payments | 70 |

| Section 8.08 Effect of Investigation | 70 |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----|
| Section 8.09 Exclusive Remedies | 70 |
| RTICLE IX TERMINATION | 71 |
| Section 9.01 Termination | 71 |
| Section 9.02 Effect of Termination | 72 |
| RTICLE X MISCELLANEOUS | 72 |
| Section 10.01 Expenses | 72 |
| Section 10.02 Notices | 72 |
| Section 10.03 Interpretation | 73 |
| Section 10.04 Headings | 74 |
| Section 10.05 Severability | 74 |
| Section 10.06 Entire Agreement | 74 |
| Section 10.07 Successors and Assigns | 74 |
| Section 10.08 No Third-Party Beneficiaries | 74 |
| Section 10.09 Amendment and Modification; Waiver | 75 |
| Section 10.10 Governing Law; Submission to Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury Trial | 75 |
| Section 10.11 Specific Performance | 76 |
| Section 10.12 Non-Recourse; Release | 77 |
| Section 10.12 Counterparts | 78 |

STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

This Stock Purchase Agreement (this "Agreement"), dated as of July 8, 2024, is entered into between PHC UTILITIES, INC., an Ohio corporation ("Seller"), Unitil Corporation, a New Hampshire corporation ("Buyer"), and joining solely for purposes of Section 3.01, ARTICLE VIII, Section 9.02, and ARTICLE X, HEARTHSTONE UTILITIES, INC., d/b/a HOPE COMPANIES, INC., an Ohio Corporation ("Parent").

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Seller owns all of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock, no par value (the "Shares"), of Bangor Natural Gas Company, a Maine corporation (the "Company");

WHEREAS, Seller wishes to sell to Buyer, and Buyer wishes to purchase from Seller, the Shares, subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein;

WHEREAS, Seller is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent; and

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements hereinafter set forth and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS

The following terms have the meanings specified or referred to in this ARTICLE I:

- "Acquisition Proposal" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.03(a).
- "Action" means any claim, action, cause of action, demand, lawsuit, arbitration, inquiry, audit, notice of violation, proceeding, litigation, citation, summons, subpoena or investigation of any nature, civil, criminal, administrative, regulatory or otherwise, whether at law or in equity.
- "Affiliate" of a Person means any other Person that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, such Person. The term "control" (including the terms "controlled by" and "under common control with") means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.
 - "Agreement" has the meaning set forth in the preamble.
 - "Allocation Schedule" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.05(c).
 - "Ancillary Documents" means the Transition Services Agreement.
 - "Audited Financial Statements" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.06.
 - "Balance Sheet" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.06.

- "Balance Sheet Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.06.
- "Basket" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.04(a).
- "Benefit Plan" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.20(a).
- "Business Day" means any day except Saturday, Sunday or any other day on which commercial banks located in Hampton, New Hampshire are authorized or required by Law to be closed for business.
 - "Buyer" has the meaning set forth in the preamble.
 - "Buyer Indemnitees" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.02.
 - "Cap" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.04(a).
- "CERCLA" means the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9601 et seq.
 - "CERCLIS" means the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Information System under CERCLA.
 - "Claim Threshold" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.04(a).
 - "Closing" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.05.
 - "Closing Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.05.
 - "Closing Date Payment" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(b)(vii).
- "Closing Effective Time" means, (a) if Closing is effective on the last day of a month, 11:59 PM, New Hampshire time, on the last day of such month or (b) if Closing is effective on the first day of a month, 12:01 AM, New Hampshire time, on the first day of such month.
- "Closing Indebtedness Certificate" means a certificate executed by the Chief Financial Officer of the Company certifying on behalf of the Company an itemized list of all outstanding Indebtedness as of the Closing and the Person to whom any such outstanding Indebtedness is owed and an aggregate total of any such outstanding Indebtedness.
 - "Closing Statement" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(b)(i).
- "Closing Transaction Expenses Certificate" means a certificate executed by the Chief Financial Officer of the Company certifying on behalf of the Company the amount of Estimated Transaction Expenses remaining unpaid as of the Closing Effective Time (determined without giving effect to the transactions contemplated herein), including an itemized list of each such unpaid Transaction Expense with a description of the nature of such expense and the Person to whom such expense is owed.

- "Closing Working Capital" means: (a) the Current Assets of the Company, less (b) the Current Liabilities of the Company, in each case determined as of the Closing Effective Time (determined without giving effect to the transactions contemplated herein).
 - "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
 - "Common Stock" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.03(a).
 - "Company" has the meaning set forth in the recitals.
 - "Company Employee" means each employee of the Company.
 - "Company Intellectual Property" means all Intellectual Property that is owned, or purported to be owned, by the Company.
- "Company IP Agreements" means all licenses, sublicenses, consent to use agreements, settlements, coexistence agreements, covenants not to sue, waivers, releases, permissions and other Contracts, whether written or oral, relating to Intellectual Property to which the Company is a party, beneficiary or otherwise bound.
- "Company IP Registrations" means all Company Intellectual Property that is subject to any issuance, registration or application by or with any Governmental Authority or authorized private registrar in any jurisdiction, including issued patents, registered trademarks, domain names and copyrights, and pending applications for any of the foregoing.
 - "Company Shared IT Systems" means those IT Systems used by the Company that are not Company IT Systems.
 - "Company IT Systems" means those IT Systems owned or purported to be owned by the Company or used solely by the Company.
- "Contracts" means all contracts, leases, deeds, mortgages, licenses, instruments, notes, commitments, undertakings, indentures, joint ventures and all other agreements, commitments and legally binding arrangements, whether written or oral.
 - "Copyrights" has the meaning set forth in the definition of Intellectual Property.
- "Current Assets" means cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, inventory and prepaid expenses, but excluding (a) the portion of any prepaid expense of which Buyer will not receive the benefit following the Closing, (b) deferred Tax assets, (c) restricted cash and (d) receivables from any of the Company's Affiliates, directors, employees, officers or stockholders and any of their respective Affiliates, determined in accordance with GAAP applied using the same accounting methods, practices, principles, policies and procedures, with consistent classifications, judgments and valuation and estimation methodologies that were used in the preparation of the Audited Financial Statements for the most recent fiscal year end as if such accounts were being prepared and audited as of a fiscal year end.

"Current Liabilities" means (a) accounts payable, accrued Taxes, accrued expenses, regulatory liabilities, and other current liabilities, and (b) unpaid Liabilities accrued, in each case as of the Closing Effective Time (determined without giving effect to the transactions contemplated herein) for salary, wages, benefits, payroll, bonuses, commissions, paid time off and other Liabilities, including any Taxes (including payroll, withholding and similar Taxes) payable thereon, including any termination pay or severance pay to any current or former employee of the Company payable on or before the Closing, but, for both of clauses (a) and (b) above, excluding deferred Tax liabilities due solely to timing difference between book and tax income, Transaction Expenses and Indebtedness of the Company, determined in accordance with GAAP applied using the same accounting methods, practices, principles, policies and procedures, with consistent classifications, judgments and valuation and estimation methodologies that were used in the preparation of the Audited Financial Statements for the most recent fiscal year end as if such accounts were being prepared and audited as of a fiscal year end.

"Debt Financing" means the debt financing of Buyer or its Affiliates in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

"Debt Financing Documents" means, collectively, each definitive agreement delivered in connection with the Debt Financing.

"Debt Financing Sources" means the Persons that have committed to provide or arrange the Debt Financing or otherwise have entered into agreements in connection with all or any part of the Debt Financing, including the parties to any commitment letters, engagement letters, joinder agreements, indentures or credit agreements entered into in connection therewith, together with their respective Affiliates and their and their respective Affiliates' officers, directors, employees, controlling persons, agents and representatives and their respective permitted successors and assigns.

"Deductible" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.04(a).

"Direct Claim" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.05(c).

"Disclosure Schedules" means the Disclosure Schedules delivered by Seller and Buyer concurrently with the execution and delivery of this Agreement.

"Disputed Amounts" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(b)(iv).

"Dollars" or "\$" means the lawful currency of the United States.

"Encumbrance" means any charge, claim, community property interest, pledge, covenant, condition, equitable interest, lien (statutory or other), option, security interest, mortgage, easement, encroachment, right of way, right of first refusal, or restriction of any kind, including any restriction on use, voting, transfer, receipt of income or exercise of any other attribute of ownership.

"Environmental Attributes" means any emissions and renewable energy credits, energy conservation credits, benefits, offsets and allowances, emission reduction credits or words of similar import or regulatory effect (including emissions reduction credits or allowances under all applicable emission trading, compliance or budget programs, or any other federal, state or regional emission, renewable energy or energy conservation trading or budget program) that have been held, allocated to or acquired for the development, construction, ownership, lease, operation, use or maintenance of the Company as of: (i) the date of this Agreement; and (ii) future years for which allocations have been established and are in effect as of the date of this Agreement.

"Environmental Claim" means any Action, Governmental Order, lien, fine, penalty, or, as to each, any settlement or judgment arising therefrom, by or from any Person alleging liability of whatever kind or nature (including liability or responsibility for the costs of enforcement proceedings, investigations, cleanup, governmental response, removal or remediation, natural resources damages, property damages, personal injuries, medical monitoring, penalties, contribution, indemnification and injunctive relief) arising out of, based on or resulting from: (a) the presence of, Release of, or exposure to, any Hazardous Materials; or (b) any actual or alleged non-compliance with or violation of any Environmental Law or term or condition of any Environmental Permit.

"Environmental Law" means any Law, Governmental Order or binding agreement with any Governmental Authority: (a) relating to or governing Hazardous Materials or the protection of natural resources, endangered or threatened species, human health or safety, or the environment (including ambient or indoor air, soil, surface water or groundwater, or subsurface strata); or (b) concerning the presence of, exposure to, or the management, manufacture, use, containment, storage, recycling, reclamation, reuse, treatment, generation, discharge, transportation, processing, production, disposal or remediation of any Hazardous Materials. The term "Environmental Law" includes, without limitation, the following (including their implementing regulations and any state analogs): CERCLA; the Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976, as amended by the Hazardous and Solid Waste Amendments of 1984, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6901 et seq.; the Federal Water Pollution Control Act of 1972, as amended by the Clean Water Act of 1977, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1251 et seq.; the Toxic Substances Control Act of 1976, as amended, 15 U.S.C. §§ 2601 et seq.; the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act of 1986, 42 U.S.C. §§ 11001 et seq.; the Clean Air Act of 1966, as amended by the Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7401 et seq.; the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide and Rodenticide Act of 1910, as amended, 7 U.S.C. §§ 136 et seq.; the Oil Pollution Act of 1990, as amended, 33 U.S.C. §§ 2701 et seq.; and the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, as amended, 29 U.S.C. §§ 651 et seq., all of which as amended.

"Environmental Notice" means any directive, notice of violation or infraction, or notice respecting any Environmental Claim relating to actual or alleged non-compliance with or violation of any Environmental Law or any term or condition of any Environmental Permit.

"Environmental Permit" means any Permit, letter, clearance, consent, waiver, closure, exemption, decision, approval or other action required under or issued, granted, given, authorized by any Governmental Authority or made pursuant to Environmental Law.

"Environmental Professional" means an individual licensed by a Governmental Authority to act on behalf of such Governmental Authority to oversee environmental site investigation and remediation.

"ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, and the regulations promulgated thereunder.

"ERISA Affiliate" means all employers (whether or not incorporated) that would be treated together with the Company or any of its Affiliates as a "single employer" within the meaning of Section 414 of the Code or Section 4001 of ERISA.

"Estimated Closing Date Payment" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(a)(i).

"Estimated Closing Statement" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(a)(ii).

"Estimated Closing Working Capital" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(a)(ii).

"Estimated Transaction Expenses" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(a)(ii).

"Financial Statements" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.06.

"GAAP" means United States generally accepted accounting principles in effect from time to time.

"Government Contracts" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.09(a)(viii).

"Governmental Authority" means any federal, state, local or foreign government or political subdivision thereof, or any agency or instrumentality of such government or political subdivision, or any self-regulated organization or other non-governmental regulatory authority or quasi-governmental authority, including any Environmental Professional (to the extent that the rules, regulations or orders of such organization or authority have the force of Law), or any arbitrator, court or tribunal of competent jurisdiction.

"Governmental Order" means any order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, stipulation, agreement, determination or award entered by or with any Governmental Authority.

"Hazardous Materials" means: (a) any material, substance, chemical, waste, product, derivative, compound, mixture, solid, liquid, mineral or gas, in each case, whether naturally occurring or manmade, that is considered hazardous, acutely hazardous, toxic, or words of similar import or regulatory effect under Environmental Laws or by any Governmental Authority; or (b) any petroleum or petroleum-derived products, radon, radioactive materials or wastes, asbestos in any form, lead or lead-containing materials, urea formaldehyde foam insulation, and polychlorinated biphenyls and perand poly- fluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) and other emerging contaminants and all constituents thereof.

"Hedging Guidelines" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.26(c).

"HSR Act" means the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended.

"Indebtedness" means, without duplication and with respect to the Company, all (a) indebtedness for borrowed money; (b) obligations for the deferred purchase price of property or services (other than Current Liabilities taken into account in the calculation of Closing Working Capital), (c) long or short-term obligations evidenced by notes, bonds, debentures or other similar instruments; (d) obligations under any interest rate, currency swap or other hedging agreement or arrangement; (e) capital lease obligations; (f) reimbursement obligations under any letter of credit, banker's acceptance or similar credit transactions; (g) guarantees made by the Company on behalf of any third party in respect of obligations of the kind referred to in the foregoing clauses (a) through (f); and (h) any unpaid interest, prepayment penalties, premiums, costs and fees that would arise or become due as a result of the prepayment of any of the obligations referred to in the foregoing clauses (a) through (g).

"Indemnified Party" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.05.

"Indemnifying Party" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.05.

"Independent Accountant" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(b)(iv).

"Insurance Policies" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.16.

"Intellectual Property" means any and all rights in, arising out of, or associated with any of the following in any jurisdiction throughout the world: (a) issued patents and patent applications (whether provisional or non-provisional), including divisionals, continuations, continuations-in-part, substitutions, reissues, reexaminations, extensions, or restorations of any of the foregoing, and other Governmental Authority-issued indicia of invention ownership (including certificates of invention, petty patents, and patent utility models) ("Patents"); (b) trademarks, service marks, brands, certification marks, logos, trade dress, trade names, and other similar indicia of source or origin, together with the goodwill connected with the use of and symbolized by, and all registrations, applications for registration, renewals of, and unregistered common law rights in any of the foregoing ("Trademarks"); (c) copyrights and works of authorship, whether or not copyrightable or registered, and all registrations, applications for registration, and renewals of any of the foregoing ("Copyrights"); (d) internet domain names and social media account or user names (including "handles"), whether or not Trademarks, all associated web addresses, URLs, websites and web pages, social media sites and pages, and all content and data thereon or relating thereto, whether or not Copyrights; (e) mask works, and all registrations, applications for registration, and renewals thereof; (f) industrial designs, and all Patents, registrations, applications for registration, and renewals thereof; (g) trade secrets, know-how, inventions (whether or not patentable), discoveries, improvements, technology, business and technical information, databases, data compilations and collections, tools, methods, processes, techniques, and other confidential and proprietary information and all rights therein ("Trade Secrets"); (h) computer programs, operating systems, applications, firmware, and other code, including all source code, object code, application programming interfaces, data files, databases, protocols, specifications, and other documentation thereof ("Software"); (i) rights of publicity; and (j) all other intellectual or industrial property and proprietary rights.

- "Interim Balance Sheet" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.06.
- "Interim Balance Sheet Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.06.
- "Interim Financial Statements" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.06.
- "IT Systems" means Software, computer hardware, servers, networks, platforms, peripherals, and similar or related items of automated, computerized, or other information technology (IT) networks and systems (including telecommunications networks and systems for voice, data and video).
- "Knowledge of Buyer" or "Buyer's Knowledge" or any other similar knowledge qualification, means the actual knowledge of any officers of Buyer, after reasonable inquiry of Buyer's relevant supervisors.
- "Knowledge of Seller" or "Seller's Knowledge" or any other similar knowledge qualification, means the actual knowledge of any officers of Parent, Seller, the Company, and each other Affiliate of Seller to the extent that such other Affiliate provides or has provided services to the Company, after reasonable inquiry of the Company's relevant supervisors.
- "Law" means any statute, law, ordinance, regulation, rule, code, order, constitution, treaty, common law, judgment, decree, other requirement or rule of law of any Governmental Authority.
 - "Liabilities" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.07.
- "Licensed Intellectual Property" means all Intellectual Property in which the Company holds any rights or interests granted by other Persons, including Seller or any of its Affiliates.
- "Losses" means losses, damages, liabilities, deficiencies, Actions, judgments, interest, awards, penalties, fines, costs or expenses of whatever kind, including reasonable attorneys' fees and the cost of enforcing any right to indemnification hereunder and the cost of pursuing any insurance providers; provided, however, that "Losses" shall not include punitive damages, except to the extent actually awarded to a Governmental Authority or other third party.
- "Material Adverse Effect" means any event, occurrence, fact, condition or change that is, or could reasonably be expected to become, individually or in the aggregate, materially adverse to (a) the business, results of operations, condition (financial or otherwise) or assets of the Company, taken as a whole, or (b) the ability of Seller to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby on a timely basis; provided, however, that "Material Adverse Effect" shall not include any event, occurrence, fact, condition or change, directly or indirectly, arising out of or attributable to: (i) general economic or political conditions; (ii) conditions generally affecting the industries in which the Company operates; (iii) any changes in financial or securities markets in general; (iv) acts of war (whether or not declared), armed hostilities or terrorism, or the escalation or worsening thereof; (v) any action required or permitted by this Agreement or any action taken (or omitted to be taken) with the written consent of or at the written request of Buyer; (vi) any changes in applicable Laws or accounting rules, including GAAP; (vii) the public announcement, pendency or completion of the transactions contemplated by this

Agreement; (viii) any natural or man-made disasters, acts of God, or global health condition (including any actions taken, or omitted to be taken, in response thereto); or (ix) any failure by the Company to meet any internal or published projections, forecasts or revenue or earnings predictions (provided that the underlying causes of such failures (subject to the other provisions of this definition) shall not be excluded); *provided further, however*; that any event, occurrence, fact, condition or change referred to in clauses (i) through (iv), (vi) or (viii) immediately above shall be taken into account in determining whether a Material Adverse Effect has occurred or could reasonably be expected to occur to the extent that such event, occurrence, fact, condition or change has a disproportionate effect on the Company compared to other similarly sized and situated participants in the industries in which the Company conducts its businesses.

"Material Contracts" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.09(a).

"Material Customers" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.15(a).

"Material Suppliers" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.15(b).

"MPUC" means the Maine Public Utilities Commission and its successors.

"MPUC Order" means an order or orders of the MPUC that (a) includes the MPUC Transaction Approval Order, (b) finds that the value of the Sempra Assets for cost of service ratemaking purposes is not less than the depreciated original cost of those assets, and (c) provides relief from and otherwise does not adopt any prior conditions or obligations that would materially impair Buyer's ability to operate the Company; provided that such order or orders (i) shall be acceptable in form and substance to Buyer in its sole discretion, (ii) shall not include any conditions or modifications that Buyer deems, in its sole discretion, to be unacceptable and (iii) shall be final and not subject to reconsideration, appeal, revocation, reversal, staying, enjoinment, setting aside, annulation, or suspension.

"MPUC Transaction Approval Order" means an order of the MPUC granting all approvals and authorizations required by the Maine Public Utility Code (Title 35-A of the Maine Revised Statutes) and regulations promulgated by the MPUC for the transaction contemplated by this Agreement; provided that such order (i) shall be acceptable in form and substance to each of Buyer and Seller in its sole discretion, (ii) shall not include any conditions or modifications that either Buyer or Seller deems, in its sole discretion, to be unacceptable and (iii) shall be final and not subject to reconsideration, appeal, revocation, reversal, staying, enjoinment, setting aside, annulation, or suspension.

"Multiemployer Plan" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.20(c).

"Net Position" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.26(c).

"Non-U.S. Benefit Plan" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.20(a).

"Open Source License" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.12(1).

"Outside Date" means the date that is 12 months after the date of this Agreement; provided that the Outside Date shall be automatically extended for 3 months if, on the date that is 12 months after the date of this Agreement: (i) the MPUC Order has not been obtained and is being pursued diligently in good faith; and (ii) each of the conditions to Closing set forth in ARTICLE VII have been satisfied or waived (other than conditions which, by their nature, are to be satisfied on the Closing Date) or remain capable of satisfaction.

"Overpayment Amount" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(c)(i).

"Patents" has the meaning set forth in the definition of Intellectual Property.

"Permits" means all permits, licenses, franchises, approvals, authorizations, registrations, certificates, variances and similar rights obtained, or required to be obtained, from Governmental Authorities.

"Permitted Encumbrances" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.10(a).

"Person" means an individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, Governmental Authority, unincorporated organization, trust, association or other entity.

"Platform Agreements" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.12(h).

"Post-Closing Adjustment" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(c)(i).

"Post-Closing Tax Period" means any taxable period beginning after the Closing Date and, with respect to any taxable period beginning on or before and ending after the Closing Date, the portion of such taxable period beginning after the Closing Date.

"Pre-Closing Tax Period" means any taxable period ending on or before the Closing Date and, with respect to any taxable period beginning on or before and ending after the Closing Date, the portion of such taxable period ending on and including the Closing Date.

"Pre-Closing Taxes" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.03.

"Pro Rata Bonus Amount" means, for each Company Employee, an amount equal to the target annual incentive bonus applicable to such Company Employee as of the Closing Effective Time solely for the calendar year in which the Closing occurs, multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days during such calendar year preceding the Closing Date during which the Company Employee was employed by the Company and the denominator of which is the number of days in such calendar year.

"Purchase Price" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02.

"Qualified Benefit Plan" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.20(c).

"Real Property" means the real property owned by, or leased or subleased to, or purported to be owned by, or leased or subleased to, the Company, together with all buildings, structures and facilities located thereon.

"Release" means any actual or threatened release, spilling, leaking, pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying, discharging, injecting, escaping, leaching, dumping, abandonment, disposing, escaping or migrating into or through the environment (including, without limitation, ambient or indoor air, surface water, groundwater, land surface or subsurface strata or within any building, structure, facility or fixture) or from any tank or other container.

"Representative" means, with respect to any Person, any and all directors, officers, employees, consultants, financial advisors, counsel, accountants and other agents of such Person.

"Resolution Period" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(b)(iii).

"Restricted Business" means the business of providing natural gas distribution service.

"Restricted Period" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.07(a).

"Review Period" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(b)(ii).

"Section 338(h)(10) Election" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.05(a).

"Seller" has the meaning set forth in the preamble.

"Seller Indemnitees" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.03.

"Sempra Assets" means the assets presently owned by the Company that were: (a) assigned a depreciated original cost value of \$36,243,901 at page 15 of the MPUC's September 8, 2014 Order in Bangor Gas Company, LLC; Request for Approval of Renewal of Multi-Rate Plan (35-A M.R.S. § 4706), Docket No. 2012-00598, which order was affirmed by the Maine Supreme Judicial Court, sitting as the Law Court, in Office of the Public Advocate v. Public Utilities Commission, 2015 ME 113, 122 A.3d 959; and (b) the basis of a recommended "negative acquisition adjustment" to the Company's rate base of \$19,454,359 described at page 46 of the December 7, 2021 Examiners' Report issued by the MPUC's staff in Bangor Natural Gas Company, Request for Approval of Rate Change (35-A M.R.S. § 307), Docket No. 2021-00024.

"Shares" has the meaning set forth in the recitals.

"Single Employer Plan" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.20(c).

"Software" has the meaning set forth in the definition of Intellectual Property.

"Statement of Objections" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(b)(iii).

"Straddle Period" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.04.

"Target Working Capital" has the meaning set forth on Exhibit C attached hereto.

"Taxes" means all federal, state, local, foreign and other income, gross receipts, sales, use, production, ad valorem, transfer, franchise, registration, profits, license, lease, service, service use, withholding, payroll, employment, unemployment, estimated, excise, severance, environmental, stamp, occupation, premium, property (real or personal), real property gains, windfall profits, customs, duties or other taxes, fees, assessments or charges of any kind whatsoever, together with any interest, additions or penalties with respect thereto and any interest in respect of such additions or penalties.

"Tax Claim" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.06.

"Tax Return" means any return, declaration, report, claim for refund, information return or statement or other document relating to Taxes, including any schedule or attachment thereto, and including any amendment thereof.

"Territory" means the State of Maine in the United States of America.

"Third-Party Claim" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.05(a).

"Trade Secrets" has the meaning set forth in the definition of Intellectual Property.

"Trademarks" has the meaning set forth in the definition of Intellectual Property.

"Transaction Expenses" means, without duplication, to the extent unpaid as of the Closing and not included in Closing Working Capital or Indebtedness, all fees and expenses incurred by the Company or Seller (and payable by the Company) (a) in connection with the preparation, negotiation and execution of this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents, and the performance and consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, (b) with respect to any severance, retention, sale, success, incentive, transaction or similar bonus or commission payments, in each case triggered as a result of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated in this Agreement (but not including any such amounts that become payable due to a terminating of employment or other event following Closing), or (c) the Pro Rata Bonus Amount, in each case of the foregoing clauses (b) and (c), including the employer side of all applicable payroll, withholding and similar Taxes thereon.

"Transition Coordinator" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.14.

"Transition Services Agreement" meant that certain Transition Services Agreement to be dated as of the Closing Date but effective as of the Closing Effective Time between Parent and the Company, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, with the schedules, exhibits, and other attachments such agreement in a form mutually agreed by Buyer and Seller after the date of this Agreement and prior to the Closing, which agreement addresses, among other things, the transition plan related to corporate governance; regulatory; treasury; corporate accounting; accounts payable & purchasing; taxes; payroll; customer service; benefits and human resources; revenues and receivables; construction; utility operations; and information systems.

"Underpayment Amount" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(c)(i).

"Undisputed Amounts" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(b)(iv).

"Union" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.21(b).

"WARN Act" means the federal Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act of 1988, and similar state, local and foreign laws related to plant closings, relocations, mass layoffs and employment losses.

ARTICLE II PURCHASE AND SALE

Section 2.01 Purchase and Sale. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, at the Closing, Seller shall sell to Buyer, and Buyer shall purchase from Seller, the Shares, free and clear of all Encumbrances (other than restrictions on transfer arising under applicable state or federal securities Laws), for the consideration specified in Section 2.02.

Section 2.02 Purchase Price. The aggregate purchase price for the Shares shall be \$70,900,000, subject to adjustment pursuant to Section 2.04 hereof (the "**Purchase Price**"). The parties agree that a Section 338(h)(10) Election shall be made, and the Purchase Price shall be allocated for tax purposes, as provided in Section 6.05(c).

Section 2.03 Transactions to be Effected at the Closing.

- (a) At the Closing, Buyer shall:
 - (i) deliver to Seller:
 - (A) the Estimated Closing Date Payment, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated in writing by Seller to Buyer no later than five Business Days prior to the Closing Date; and
 - (B) the Ancillary Documents and all other agreements, documents, instruments or certificates required to be delivered by Buyer at or prior to the Closing pursuant to Section 7.03 of this Agreement, in each case duly executed by Buyer.
- (ii) pay, on behalf of the Company or Seller, as applicable, any Transaction Expenses unpaid at Closing, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the accounts and in the amounts specified on the Closing Transaction Expenses Certificate.
- (b) At the Closing, Seller shall deliver to Buyer:
- (i) stock certificates evidencing the Shares, free and clear of all Encumbrances (other than restrictions on transfer arising under applicable state or federal securities Laws), duly endorsed in blank or accompanied by stock powers or other instruments of transfer duly executed in blank, with all required stock transfer tax stamps affixed thereto; and

(ii) the Ancillary Documents and all other agreements, documents, instruments or certificates required to be delivered by Seller at or prior to the Closing pursuant to Section 7.02 of this Agreement, in each case duly executed by Seller or, in the case of the Transition Services Agreement, by Parent.

Section 2.04 Purchase Price Adjustment.

- (a) Closing Adjustment.
 - (i) At the Closing, the Purchase Price shall be adjusted in the following manner:
 - (A) either (1) an increase by the amount, if any, by which the Estimated Closing Working Capital (as determined in accordance with Section 2.04(a)(ii)) is greater than the Target Working Capital, or (2) a decrease by the amount, if any, by which the Estimated Closing Working Capital is less than the Target Working Capital; and
 - (B) a decrease by the amount of Estimated Transaction Expenses of the Company as of the Closing Effective Time (determined without giving effect to the transactions contemplated herein), which shall in no event be an amount less than the amounts paid by the Buyer pursuant to Section 2.03(a)(ii).

The net amount after giving effect to the adjustments listed above shall be the "Estimated Closing Date Payment."

(ii) At least five Business Days before the Closing, Seller shall prepare and deliver to Buyer a statement (the "Estimated Closing Statement") setting forth its good faith estimate of (A) the Closing Working Capital (the "Estimated Closing Working Capital"), (B) the Transaction Expenses (the "Estimated Transaction Expenses"); (C) any net adjustment (upward or downward) to the Purchase Price as a result of the foregoing, and (D) the resulting Estimated Closing Date Payment. The Estimated Closing Statement shall be accompanied by an (X) estimated balance sheet of the Company as of the Closing Effective Time (determined without giving effect to the transactions contemplated herein), a calculation of Estimated Closing Working Capital, and a certificate of the Chief Financial Officer of Seller certifying that the Estimated Closing Statement was prepared using the definitions contained in this Agreement and, to the extent consistent with such definitions, in accordance with GAAP applied using the same accounting methods, practices, principles, policies and procedures, with consistent classifications, judgments and valuation and estimation methodologies that were used in the preparation of the Audited Financial Statements for the most recent fiscal year end as if such Estimated Closing Statement was being prepared and audited as of a fiscal year end and (Y) the Closing Transaction Expenses Certificate.

- (b) Post-Closing Examination and Review.
- (i) Closing Statement. Within 90 days after the Closing Date, Buyer shall prepare and deliver to Seller a statement (the "Closing Statement") setting forth its calculation of (A) Closing Working Capital, (B) the Transaction Expenses; (C) any net adjustment (upward or downward) to the Purchase Price as a result of the foregoing, and (D) the resulting Closing Date Payment. The Closing Statement shall be accompanied by a balance sheet of the Company as of the Closing Effective Time (determined without giving effect to the transactions contemplated herein), a calculation of Closing Working Capital, and a certificate of the Chief Financial Officer of Buyer certifying that the Closing Statement was prepared using the definitions contained in this Agreement and, to the extent consistent with such definitions, in accordance with GAAP applied using the same accounting methods, practices, principles, policies and procedures, with consistent classifications, judgments and valuation and estimation methodologies that were used in the preparation of the Audited Financial Statements for the most recent fiscal year end as if such Closing Statement was being prepared and audited as of a fiscal year end.
- (ii) Examination. After receipt of the Closing Statement, Seller shall have 30 days (the "Review Period") to review the Closing Statement. During the Review Period, Seller and Seller's accountants shall have reasonable access to the books and records of the Company, the personnel of, and work papers prepared by, Buyer and/or Buyer's accountants to the extent that they relate to the Closing Statement and to such historical financial information (to the extent in Buyer's possession) relating to the Closing Statement as Seller may reasonably request for the purpose of reviewing the Closing Statement and to prepare a Statement of Objections (defined below), *provided*, *that* such access shall be in a manner that does not interfere with the normal business operations of Buyer or the Company.
- (iii) Objection. On or prior to the last day of the Review Period, Seller may object to the Closing Statement by delivering to Buyer a written statement setting forth Seller's objections in reasonable detail, indicating each disputed item or amount and the basis for Seller's disagreement therewith (the "Statement of Objections"). If Seller fails to deliver the Statement of Objections before the expiration of the Review Period, the Closing Statement shall be deemed to have been accepted by Seller and shall be final and binding. If Seller delivers the Statement of Objections before the expiration of the Review Period, Buyer and Seller shall negotiate in good faith to resolve such objections within 30 days after the delivery of the Statement of Objections (the "Resolution Period"), and, if the same are so resolved within the Resolution Period, the Closing Statement with such changes as may have been previously agreed in writing by Buyer and Seller, shall be final and binding.

- (iv) Resolution of Disputes. If Seller and Buyer fail to reach an agreement with respect to all of the matters set forth in the Statement of Objections before expiration of the Resolution Period, then any amounts remaining in dispute ("Disputed Amounts" and any amounts not so disputed, the "Undisputed Amounts") shall be submitted for resolution to the office of Baker Tilley or, if Baker Tilley is unable to serve, Buyer and Seller shall appoint by mutual agreement the office of an impartial nationally recognized firm of independent certified public accountants other than Seller's accountants or Buyer's accountants (the "Independent Accountant") who, acting as experts and not arbitrators, shall resolve the Disputed Amounts only and make any resulting adjustments to the Closing Statement. The parties hereto agree that all adjustments shall be made without regard to materiality. The Independent Accountant shall only decide the specific items under dispute by the parties and their decision for each Disputed Amount must be within the range of values assigned to each such item in the Closing Statement and the Statement of Objections, respectively.
- (v) Fees of the Independent Accountant. The fees and expenses of the Independent Accountant shall be paid by Seller, on the one hand, and by Buyer, on the other hand, based upon the percentage that the amount actually contested but not awarded to Seller or Buyer, respectively, bears to the aggregate amount actually contested by Seller and Buyer.
- (vi) Determination by Independent Accountant. The Independent Accountant shall make a determination as soon as practicable within 30 days (or such other time as the parties hereto shall agree in writing) after their engagement, and their resolution of the Disputed Amounts and their adjustments to the Closing Statement shall be conclusive and binding upon the parties hereto.
- (vii) Closing Date Payment. "Closing Date Payment" means the Purchase Price adjusted in the following manner after giving effect to the adjustments in the binding Closing Statement:
 - (A) either (1) an increase by the amount, if any, by which the Closing Working Capital is greater than the Target Working Capital, or (2) a decrease by the amount, if any, by which the Closing Working Capital is less than the Target Working Capital; and
 - (B) a decrease by the amount of Transaction Expenses of the Company as of the Closing Effective Time (determined without giving effect to the transactions contemplated herein), which shall in no event be an amount less than the amounts paid by the Buyer pursuant to Section 2.03(a)(ii).
- (c) Payments of Post-Closing Adjustment.
- (i) If the Closing Date Payment is less than the Estimated Closing Date Payment (the difference referred to herein as the "Overpayment Amount"), Seller shall promptly pay or cause to be paid to Buyer, in the manner and with interest as provided herein, the Overpayment Amount. If the Closing Date Payment is greater than the Estimated Closing Date Payment (the difference referred to herein as the "Underpayment Amount"), Buyer shall promptly pay or

cause to be paid to Seller, in the manner and with interest as provided herein, the Underpayment Amount. Any payments pursuant to this Section 2.04(c)(i) (the "Post-Closing Adjustment"), together with interest calculated as set forth in Section 2.04(c)(ii), shall be made within ten Business Days after the final determination of the Closing Date Payment and shall be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account of Buyer or Seller, as the case may be, as designated by the party receiving such payment.

- (ii) The amount of any Post-Closing Adjustment shall bear interest from the Closing Date to but excluding the date of payment at a rate per annum equal to the "prime rate" then in effect as published in The Wall Street Journal. Such interest shall be calculated daily on the basis of a 365-day year and the actual number of days elapsed.
- (d) Adjustments for Tax Purposes. Any payments made pursuant to Section 2.04 shall be treated as an adjustment to the Purchase Price by the parties for Tax purposes, unless otherwise required by Law.

Section 2.05 Closing. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the purchase and sale of the Shares contemplated hereby shall take place at a closing (the "Closing") to be held at 10:00 AM, New Hampshire time, no later than the first Business Day of the month following the date that is 10 Business Days after the parties have received notice that the last of the conditions to Closing set forth in ARTICLE VII have been satisfied or waived (other than conditions which, by their nature, are to be satisfied on the Closing Date, it being a condition to the effectiveness of the Closing that such conditions be satisfied or waived on the Closing Date) (the "Closing Notice"), remotely by electronic exchange of documents and signatures, to be effective on the first day of the month at the Closing Effective Time, or at such other time or on such other date or at such other place as Seller and Buyer may mutually agree upon in writing; *provided, however*, that if the parties receive the Closing Notice on or after December 1, 2024 but before December 18, 2024, then Seller shall have the option, exercisable by written notice to Buyer no later than December 23, 2024, to elect for the Closing to be held at 10:00 AM, New Hampshire time, on a Business Day in December mutually agreeable to the parties hereto, or if not agreed upon, then on December 31, 2024, to be effective on the last day of December at the Closing Effective Time, or at such other time or on such other date as Seller and Buyer may mutually agree in writing (the day on which the Closing takes place being the "Closing Date").

Section 2.06 Withholding Tax. Buyer and the Company shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from the Purchase Price all Taxes that Buyer and the Company may be required to deduct and withhold under any provision of Tax Law. All such withheld amounts shall be treated as delivered to Seller hereunder.

ARTICLE III REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER

Except as set forth in the correspondingly numbered Section of the Disclosure Schedules, (i) Seller represents and warrants to Buyer that the statements contained in this ARTICLE III are true and correct as of the date hereof and (ii) Parent represents and warrants to Buyer that the statements contained in Section 3.01 are true and correct as of the date hereof and will be true and correct as of the Closing.

Section 3.01 Organization and Authority of Seller. Seller is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the state of Ohio. Seller has full corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents to which Seller is or will be a party, to carry out its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The execution and delivery by Seller of this Agreement and the Ancillary Document to which Seller is or will be a party, the performance by Seller of its obligations hereunder and thereunder, and the consummation by Seller of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly authorized by all requisite corporate action on the part of Seller. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Seller, and (assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by Buyer) this Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of Seller enforceable against Seller in accordance with its terms. When each Ancillary Document to which Seller is or will be a party has been duly executed and delivered by Seller (assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by each other party thereto), such Ancillary Document will constitute a legal and binding obligation of Seller enforceable against it in accordance with its terms. Parent is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the state of Ohio and has full corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents to which Parent is or will be a party, to carry out its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The execution and delivery by Parent of this Agreement and the Ancillary Document to which Parent is or will be a party and the performance by Parent of its obligations hereunder and thereunder have been duly authorized by all requisite corporate action on the part of Parent. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Parent, and (assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by Buyer) this Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of Parent enforceable against Parent in accordance with its terms. When each Ancillary Document to which Parent is or will be a party has been duly executed and delivered by Parent (assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by each other party thereto), such Ancillary Document will constitute a legal and binding obligation of Parent enforceable against it in accordance with its terms.

Section 3.02 Organization, Authority and Qualification of the Company. The Company is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the state of Maine and has full corporate power and authority to own, operate or lease the properties and assets now owned, operated or leased by it and to carry on its business as it has been and is currently conducted. Section 3.02 of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth each jurisdiction in which the Company is licensed or qualified to do business, and the Company is duly licensed or qualified to do business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which the properties owned or leased by it or the operation of its business as currently conducted makes such licensing or qualification necessary. All corporate actions taken by the Company in connection with this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents have been duly authorized. The copies of the Company's certification of incorporation, bylaws, and other organizational documents that have been made available to Buyer are true, correct and complete copies of such certificates, bylaws or other documents and reflect all amendments made thereto at any time prior to the date hereof.

Section 3.03 Capitalization.

- (a) The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of 3,000 shares of common stock, no par value ("Common Stock"), of which 100 shares are issued and outstanding and constitute the Shares. All of the Shares have been duly authorized, are validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable, and are owned of record and beneficially by Seller, free and clear of all Encumbrances. Upon consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, Buyer shall own all of the Shares, free and clear of all Encumbrances.
- (b) All of the Shares were issued in compliance with applicable Laws. None of the Shares were issued in violation of any agreement, arrangement or commitment to which Seller or the Company is a party or is subject to or in violation of any preemptive or similar rights of any Person.
- (c) There are no outstanding or authorized options, warrants, convertible securities or other rights, agreements, arrangements or commitments of any character relating to the capital stock of the Company or obligating Seller or the Company to issue or sell any shares of capital stock of, or any other interest in, the Company. The Company does not have outstanding or authorized any stock appreciation, phantom stock, profit participation or similar rights. There are no voting trusts, stockholder agreements, proxies or other agreements or understandings in effect with respect to the voting or transfer of any of the Shares.

Section 3.04 No Subsidiaries. The Company does not own, or have any capital stock or other equity, ownership or profit sharing interests in any other Person, or the right or obligation to acquire any capital stock or other equity, ownership or profit sharing interests in any other Person.

Section 3.05 No Conflicts; Consents. Except as set forth in Section 3.05 of the Disclosure Schedules, the execution, delivery and performance by Seller of this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents to which it is or will be a party, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, do not and will not: (a) conflict with or result in a violation or breach of, or default under, any provision of the certificate of incorporation, by-laws or other organizational documents of Seller or the Company; (b) conflict with or result in a violation or breach of any provision of any Law or Governmental Order applicable to Seller or the Company or require or trigger any requirement for any consent, approval, Permit, Governmental Order, declaration or filing with, or notice to, any Governmental Authority, except for the MPUC Transaction Approval Order; (c) except as would not be material to the business of the Company, require the consent, notice or other action by any Person under, conflict with, result in a violation or breach of, constitute a default or an event that, with or without notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a default under, result in the acceleration of or create in any party the right to accelerate, terminate, modify or cancel any Contract to which Seller or the Company is a party or by which Seller or the Company is bound or to which any of their respective properties and assets are subject (including any Material Contract) or any Permit affecting the properties, assets or business of the Company; or (d) except as would not be material to the business of the Company, result in the creation or imposition of any Encumbrance other than Permitted Encumbrances on any properties or assets of the Company.

Section 3.06 Financial Statements. Complete copies of the Company's audited financial statements consisting of the balance sheet of the Company as at December 31 in each of the years 2023, 2022 and 2021 and the related statements of income and retained earnings, stockholders' equity and cash flow for the years then ended (the "Audited Financial Statements"), and unaudited financial statements consisting of the balance sheet of the Company as at March 31, 2024 and the related statements of income and retained earnings, stockholders' equity and cash flow for the three-month period then ended (the "Interim Financial Statements" and together with the Audited Financial Statements, the "Financial Statements") are included in Section 3.06 the Disclosure Schedules. The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout the period involved, subject, in the case of the Interim Financial Statements, to normal and recurring year-end adjustments (the effect of which will not be materially adverse) and the absence of notes (that, if presented, would not differ materially from those presented in the Audited Financial Statements). The Financial Statements are based on the books and records of the Company, and fairly present the financial condition of the Company as of the respective dates they were prepared and the results of the operations of the Company for the periods indicated. The balance sheet of the Company as of December 31, 2023 is referred to herein as the "Balance Sheet" and the date thereof as the "Balance Sheet Date" and the balance sheet of the Company as of March 31, 2024 is referred to herein as the "Interim Balance Sheet" and the date thereof as the "Interim Balance Sheet Date". The Company maintains a standard system of accounting established and administered in accordance with GAAP. The Company maintains a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurance that; (i) transactions are executed in accordance with its management's general or specific authorizations; (ii) transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in conformity with the Company's accounting principles and GAAP and to maintain asset accountability; (iii) access to assets is permitted only in accordance with management's general or specific authorization; and (iv) the recorded accountability for assets is compared with the existing assets at reasonable intervals and appropriate action is taken with respect to any differences. Since December 31, 2020, neither the Seller nor the Company has received any oral or written notification of a (x) "reportable condition," (y) "significant deficiency" or (z) "material weakness" in its internal controls. The terms "reportable condition," "significant deficiency" and "material weakness" shall have the meanings assigned to them in AU Section 325, "Communicating Internal Control Related Matters Identified in an Audit," and Public Company Accounting Oversight Board Auditing Standard No. 2, "An Audit of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Performed in Conjunction with an Audit of Financial Statements," as appropriate.

Section 3.07 Undisclosed Liabilities. The Company has no liabilities, obligations or commitments of any nature whatsoever, asserted or unasserted, known or unknown, absolute or contingent, accrued or unaccrued, matured or unmatured or otherwise ("Liabilities"), except (a) those which are adequately reflected or reserved against in the Balance Sheet as of the Balance Sheet Date, and (b) those which have been incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice since the Balance Sheet Date and which are not, individually or in the aggregate, material in amount. On or prior to Closing, the Company shall assign its long-term debt to an Affiliate of the Company and such Affiliate shall assume such assignment. As of the Closing, the Company shall have no Indebtedness.

Section 3.08 Absence of Certain Changes, Events and Conditions. Except as set forth in Section 3.08 of the Disclosure Schedules, since the Balance Sheet Date, the business of the Company has been conducted in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, and there has not been, with respect to the Company, any:

- (a) event, occurrence or development that has had, or could reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect;
 - (b) amendment of the charter, by-laws or other organizational documents of the Company;
 - (c) split, combination or reclassification of any shares of its capital stock;
- (d) issuance, sale or other disposition of any of its capital stock, or grant of any options, warrants or other rights to purchase or obtain (including upon conversion, exchange or exercise) any of its capital stock;
- (e) declaration or payment of any dividends or distributions on or in respect of any of its capital stock or redemption, purchase or acquisition of its capital stock;
- (f) material change in any method of accounting or accounting practice of the Company, except as required by GAAP or as disclosed in the notes to the Financial Statements;
- (g) material change in the Company's cash management practices and its policies, practices and procedures with respect to collection of accounts receivable, establishment of reserves for uncollectible accounts, accrual of accounts receivable, inventory control, prepayment of expenses, payment of trade accounts payable, accrual of other expenses, deferral of revenue and acceptance of customer deposits;
 - (h) entry into any Contract that would constitute a Material Contract;
- (i) incurrence, assumption or guarantee of any indebtedness for borrowed money; provided, however, for the avoidance of doubt, the Company may make draws on its existing line of credit from time to time; provided, further, that on or prior to Closing, the Company's indebtedness for borrowed money will be reassigned to an Affiliate of the Company, and as of the Closing the Company shall have no Indebtedness:
- (j) transfer, assignment, sale or other disposition of any of the assets shown or reflected in the Balance Sheet or cancellation of any debts or entitlements, except in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
- (k) transfer or assignment of or grant of any license or sublicense under or with respect to any material Company Intellectual Property or Company IP Agreements except non-exclusive licenses or sublicenses granted in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

- (1) abandonment or lapse of or failure to maintain in full force and effect any material Company IP Registration, or failure to take or maintain reasonable measures to protect the confidentiality or value of any material Trade Secrets included in the Company Intellectual Property;
 - (m) material damage, destruction or loss (whether or not covered by insurance) to its property;
 - (n) capital investment in, or loan to, any other Person;
- (o) acceleration, termination, material modification to or cancellation of any Material Contract to which the Company is a party or by which it is bound; *provided, however*, that on or prior to Closing, the Company's long-term debt will be reassigned to an Affiliate of the Company, and as of the Closing the Company shall have no Indebtedness;
 - (p) material capital expenditures (not included in Company's existing capital plan provided to Buyer);
- (q) imposition of any Encumbrance upon the Company's capital stock or imposition of any Encumbrance (other than a Permitted Encumbrance) upon any of the Company's properties or assets, tangible or intangible;
- (r) (i) grant of any bonuses, whether monetary or otherwise, or increase in any wages, salary, severance, pension or other compensation or benefits in respect of its current or former employees, officers, directors, independent contractors or consultants, other than as provided for in any written agreements or required by applicable Law, (ii) change in the terms of employment for any employee or any termination without cause of any employee for which the aggregate costs and expenses with respect to all employees exceed \$200,000, or (iii) action to accelerate the vesting or payment of any compensation or benefit for any current or former employee, officer, director, independent contractor or consultant;
- (s) hiring or promoting of any person, demotion, termination without cause, or adoption, modification, or termination of any employment, severance, retention, or other agreement with any current or former employee, officer, or director;
- (t) adoption, modification or termination of any: (i) Benefit Plan or (ii) collective bargaining or other agreement with a Union, in each case whether written or oral;
- (u) loan to (or forgiveness of any loan to), or entry into any other transaction with, any of its stockholders or current or former directors, officers and employees;

- (v) entry into a new line of business or abandonment or discontinuance of existing lines of business;
- (w) adoption of any plan of merger, consolidation, reorganization, liquidation or dissolution or filing of a petition in bankruptcy under any provisions of federal or state bankruptcy Law or consent to the filing of any bankruptcy petition against it under any similar Law;
- (x) purchase, lease or other acquisition of the right to own, use or lease any property or assets for an amount in excess of \$100,000, individually (in the case of a lease, per annum) or \$200,000 in the aggregate (in the case of a lease, for the entire term of the lease, not including any option term), except for purchases of inventory or supplies in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
- (y) acquisition by merger or consolidation with, or by purchase of a substantial portion of the assets or stock of, or by any other manner, any business or any Person or any division thereof;
- (z) action by the Company to make, change or rescind any Tax election, amend any Tax Return, or take any position on any Tax Return, take any action, omit to take any action or enter into any other transaction that would have the effect of increasing the Tax liability or reducing any Tax asset of the Company or the Buyer in respect of any Post-Closing Tax Period; or
 - (aa) contracting to do any of the foregoing, or any action or omission that would result in any of the foregoing.

Section 3.09 Material Contracts.

- (a) Section 3.09(a) of the Disclosure Schedules lists each of the following Contracts of the Company (such Contracts listed or required to be listed, being "Material Contracts"):
 - (i) each Contract of the Company involving aggregate outstanding consideration payable by the Company in excess of \$100,000 and which, in each case, cannot be cancelled by the Company without penalty or without more than 90 days' notice;
 - (ii) all Contracts that require the Company to purchase its total requirements of any product or service from a third party or that contain "take or pay" provisions;
 - (iii) all Contracts (A) that provide for the indemnification by the Company of any Person, other than Contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice (including ordinary course maintenance and construction project agreements), or (B) pursuant to which the Company has guaranteed or assumed the performance, indebtedness, or Liability of any Person, other than Contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, except, in each case, for Contracts pursuant to which there are no ongoing obligations;

- (iv) all Contracts that relate to the acquisition or disposition of any business, a material amount of stock or assets of any other Person or any real property (whether by merger, sale of stock, sale of assets or otherwise);
- (v) all broker, distributor, dealer, manufacturer's representative, franchise, agency, sales promotion, market research, marketing consulting and advertising Contracts to which the Company is a party;
- (vi) all employment agreements and Contracts with independent contractors or consultants (or similar arrangements) to which the Company is a party and which are not cancellable without material penalty or without more than 90 days' notice;
- (vii) except for Contracts relating to trade payables, all Contracts relating to Indebtedness (including, without limitation, guarantees) of the Company;
 - (viii) all Contracts with any Governmental Authority to which the Company is a party ("Government Contracts");
- (ix) all Contracts that limit or purport to limit the ability of the Company to compete in any line of business or with any Person or in any geographic area or during any period of time;
- (x) any Contracts to which the Company is a party that provide for any joint venture, partnership or similar arrangement by the Company;
- (xi) all Contracts between or among the Company on the one hand and Seller or any Affiliate of Seller (other than the Company) on the other hand;
 - (xii) all collective bargaining agreements or Contracts with any Union to which the Company is a party;
- (xiii) Contracts that by their terms limit or otherwise restrict either Company from engaging or competing in any line of business or in any geographic area or that contain "most favored nation" pricing provisions or exclusivity or non-solicitation provisions with respect to customers;
 - (xiv) current, active Contracts that provide for gas supply or transportation;
- (xv) Contracts concerning the occupancy, management, or operation of any Real Property (including without limitation brokerage contracts) listed or otherwise disclosed or required to be listed or otherwise disclosed in Section 3.10(b) of the Disclosure Schedules;

- (xvi) all Company IP Agreements set forth or required to be set forth in Section 3.12(b) of the Disclosure Schedules;
- (xvii) Contracts that provide for the operation or management of any operating assets of the Company by a non-affiliated third party; and
 - (xviii) any other Contract that is material to the Company and not previously disclosed pursuant to this Section 3.09.
- (b) Each Material Contract is in full force and effect and is a valid and binding agreement enforceable against the Company and the other party or parties thereto, in accordance with its terms. None of the Company or, to Seller's Knowledge, any other party thereto is in breach of or default under (or is alleged to be in breach of or default under), in any material respect, or has provided or received any notice of any intention to terminate, any Material Contract. No event or circumstance has occurred that, with notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute an event of default under any Material Contract or result in a termination thereof or would cause or permit the acceleration or other changes of any right or obligation or the loss of any benefit thereunder. Complete and correct copies of each Material Contract (including all modifications, amendments and supplements thereto and waivers thereunder) have been made available to Buyer.

Section 3.10 Title to Assets; Real Property.

- (a) Except as would not materially affect the conduct of the business of the Company as currently conducted or materially impair title to, access to, possession of, occupancy of, operation of, and/or use of such property in the conduct of the business of the Company as currently conducted, the Company has good and valid title to, or in the case of leased property, a valid leasehold interest in, all Real Property and personal property and other assets reflected in the Audited Financial Statements or acquired after the Balance Sheet Date, other than properties and assets sold or otherwise disposed of in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice since the Balance Sheet Date. All such properties and assets (including leasehold interests) are free and clear of Encumbrances, except for the following (collectively referred to as "Permitted Encumbrances"):
 - (i) those items set forth in Section 3.10(a) of the Disclosure Schedules;
 - (ii) liens for Taxes not yet due and payable;
 - (iii) mechanics, carriers', workmen's, repairmen's or other like liens arising or incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, for which payment is not yet due and that are not, individually or in the aggregate, material to the business of the Company;
 - (iv) liens or security interests that arise or are incurred in the ordinary course of business relating to obligations not yet due on the part of the Company or secure a liquidated amount that are being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings and, in each case, for which adequate reserves in accordance with GAAP have been established;

- (v) pledges or deposits to secure obligations under workers' compensation Laws or similar Laws or to secure public or statutory obligations;
 - (vi) liens discharged on or prior to Closing;
- (vii) the terms and conditions of (a) the Material Contracts that have been provided to Buyer prior to the date of this Agreement, (b) any Governmental Order that has been provided to Buyer prior to the date of this Agreement or (c) any Permit listed on Section 3.18(b) of the Disclosure Schedules, in each case of clauses (a), (b), and (c), to the extent the same does not, individually or in the aggregate, materially impair title to, access to, possession of, occupancy of, operation of, and/or use of such property in the conduct of the business of the Company as currently conducted;
- (viii) easements, rights of way, and other similar encumbrances affecting Real Property which are of record or notice of which has been provided to Buyer prior to the date of this Agreement, and which do not, individually or in the aggregate, materially impair the title to, access to, possession of, occupancy of, operation of, and/or use of such property in the conduct of the business of the Company;
 - (ix) zoning ordinances; or
- (x) other than with respect to owned Real Property, liens arising under original purchase price conditional sales contracts and equipment leases with third parties entered into in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice which are not, individually or in the aggregate, material to the business of the Company.
- (b) Section 3.10(b) of the Disclosure Schedules (i) lists each instrument, order or other source of right evidencing all of the Company's interests in the Real Property, and (ii) includes maps of the general locations of the Real Property and the Company's transmission and distribution systems. With respect to Real Property owned or purported to be owned, Seller has delivered or made available to Buyer true, complete and correct copies of the deeds and other instruments (as recorded) by which the Company acquired such Real Property, and copies of all title insurance policies, opinions, abstracts, maps, plans and surveys, environmental site assessments and evidence of zoning in the possession of Seller or the Company and relating to the Real Property. With respect to leased Real Property, Seller has delivered or made available to Buyer true, complete and correct copies of any leases affecting the Real Property. Except as set forth in Section 3.10(b) of the Disclosure Schedules, the Company is not a sublessor or grantor under any sublease or other instrument granting to any other Person any right to the possession, lease, occupancy or enjoyment of any leased Real Property, except as may be of record or as would not materially impair the title to, access to, possession of, occupancy of,

operation of, and/or use of such property in the conduct of the business of the Company. The use and operation of the Real Property in the conduct of the Company's business do not violate in any material respect any Law, covenant, condition, restriction, easement, license, permit or agreement. No material improvements constituting a part of the Real Property encroach on real property owned or leased by a Person other than the Company. There are no Actions pending nor, to the Seller's Knowledge, threatened against or affecting the Real Property or any portion thereof or interest therein in the nature or in lieu of condemnation or eminent domain proceedings.

- (c) There are no claims pending nor, to the Seller's Knowledge, threatened against the Company that allege that the Company does not have a right of way, easement, or other appropriate property right to operate the pipelines and related systems operated by the Company in all material respects. Notwithstanding anything in the Agreement, or any schedule or other oral representation or in writing, the Company makes no representation that it holds a right of way or easement for all the pipelines and related systems operated by it.
- (d) Except as set forth in Section 3.10(d) of the Disclosure Schedules (i) no breach or event of default on the part of the Company, (ii) to the Knowledge of Seller, no breach or event of default on the part of any other party thereto, and (iii) no event that, with the giving of notice or lapse of time or both, could constitute such breach or event of default on the part of the Company or, to the Knowledge of Seller, on the part of any other party thereto, has occurred and is continuing under any easement, right-of-way, license, right of use, or other agreement creating similar interests for the operation of the Company's pipelines and related systems as currently operated in all material respects.

Section 3.11 Condition and Sufficiency of Assets. Except as set forth in Section 3.11 of the Disclosure Schedules, the buildings, plants, structures, furniture, fixtures, machinery, equipment, vehicles and other items of tangible personal property of the Company are structurally sound, are in good operating condition and repair, and are adequate for the uses to which they are being put, and none of such buildings, plants, structures, furniture, fixtures, machinery, equipment, vehicles and other items of tangible personal property is in need of maintenance or repairs except for ordinary, routine maintenance and repairs that are not material in nature or cost. The buildings, plants, structures, furniture, fixtures, machinery, equipment, vehicles and other items of tangible personal property currently owned or leased by the Company, together with all other properties and assets of the Company (including the Real Property), are sufficient for the continued conduct of the Company's business after the Closing in substantially the same manner as conducted prior to the Closing and constitute all of the rights, property and assets necessary to conduct the business of the Company as currently conducted.

Section 3.12 Intellectual Property.

(a) Section 3.12(a) of the Disclosure Schedules contains a correct, current, and complete list of: (i) all Company IP Registrations, specifying as to each, as applicable: the title, mark, or design; the record owner and inventor(s), if any; the jurisdiction by or in which it has been issued, registered, or filed; the patent, registration, or application serial number; the issue, registration, or filing date; and the current status; (ii) all unregistered Trademarks included in the Company Intellectual Property; (iii) all proprietary Software of the Company; and (iv) all other Company Intellectual Property used or held for use in the Company's business as currently conducted and as proposed to be conducted in the absence of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

- (b) Section 3.12(b) of the Disclosure Schedules contains a correct, current, and complete list of all Company IP Agreements, specifying for each the date, title, and parties thereto, and separately identifying the Company IP Agreements: (i) under which the Company is a licensor or otherwise grants to any Person any right or interest relating to any Company Intellectual Property; (ii) under which the Company is a licensee or otherwise granted any right or interest relating to the Intellectual Property of any Person; and (iii) which otherwise relate to the Company's ownership or use of Intellectual Property, in each case identifying the Intellectual Property covered by such Company IP Agreement. Seller has provided Buyer with true and complete copies (or in the case of any oral agreements, a complete and correct written description) of all Company IP Agreements, including all modifications, amendments and supplements thereto and waivers thereunder. Each Company IP Agreement is valid and binding on the Company in accordance with its terms and is in full force and effect. Neither the Company nor any other party thereto is, or is alleged to be, in breach of or default under, or has provided or received any notice of breach of, default under, or intention to terminate (including by non-renewal), any Company IP Agreement.
- (c) Except as set forth in Section 3.12(c) of the Disclosure Schedules, the Company is the sole and exclusive legal and beneficial, and with respect to the Company IP Registrations, record, owner of all right, title, and interest in and to the Company Intellectual Property, and has the valid and enforceable right to use all other Intellectual Property used or held for use in or necessary for the conduct of the Company's business as currently conducted and as proposed to be conducted in the absence of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, in each case, free and clear of Encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances. The Company has entered into binding, valid and enforceable, written Contracts with each current and former employee and independent contractor who is or was involved in or has contributed to the invention, creation, authorship, or development of any Intellectual Property during the course of employment or engagement with the Company whereby such employee or independent contractor (i) acknowledges the Company's exclusive ownership of all Intellectual Property invented, created, authored or developed by such employee or independent contractor within the scope of his or her employment or engagement with the Company; (ii) grants to the Company a present, irrevocable assignment of any ownership interest such employee or independent contractor may have in or to such Intellectual Property; and (iii) irrevocably waives any right or interest, including any moral rights, regarding any such Intellectual Property, to the extent permitted by applicable Law. Seller has provided Buyer with true and complete copies of all such Contracts. All assignments and other instruments necessary to establish, record, and perfect the Company's ownership interest in the Company IP Registrations have been validly executed, delivered, and filed with the relevant Governmental Authorities and authorized registrars.

- (d) Neither the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement, nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereunder, will result in the loss or impairment of, or require the consent of any other Person in respect of, the Company's right to own or use any Company Intellectual Property or Licensed Intellectual Property.
- (e) All of the Company Intellectual Property and Licensed Intellectual Property are valid and enforceable, and all Company IP Registrations are subsisting and in full force and effect. The Company has taken all reasonable and necessary steps to maintain and enforce the Company Intellectual Property and Licensed Intellectual Property and to preserve the confidentiality of all Trade Secrets included in the Company Intellectual Property, including by requiring all Persons having access thereto to execute binding, written non-disclosure agreements. All required filings and fees related to the Company IP Registrations have been timely submitted with and paid to the relevant Governmental Authorities and authorized registrars. Seller has provided Buyer with true and complete copies of all file histories, documents, certificates, office actions, correspondence, assignments, and other instruments relating to the Company IP Registrations.
- (f) The conduct of the Company's business as currently and formerly conducted and as proposed to be conducted, including the use of the Company Intellectual Property and Licensed Intellectual Property in connection therewith, and the products, processes and services of the Company have not infringed, misappropriated or otherwise violated, and Seller has no reason to believe that the foregoing will infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate, the Intellectual Property or other rights of any Person. To Seller's Knowledge, no Person has infringed, misappropriated or otherwise violated any Company Intellectual Property or Licensed Intellectual Property.
- (g) There are no Actions (including any opposition, cancellation, revocation, review, or other proceeding), whether settled, pending, or, to Seller's Knowledge, threatened (including in the form of offers to obtain a license): (i) alleging any infringement, misappropriation, or other violation by the Company of the Intellectual Property of any Person; (ii) challenging in whole or in part, the validity, enforceability, registrability, patentability, scope or ownership of any Company Intellectual Property or Licensed Intellectual Property or the Company's right, title, or interest in or to any Company Intellectual Property or Licensed Intellectual Property; or (iii) by the Company or by the owner of any Licensed Intellectual Property alleging any infringement, misappropriation, or other violation by any Person of the Company Intellectual Property or such Licensed Intellectual Property. Neither Seller nor the Company is aware of any facts or circumstances that could reasonably be expected to give rise to any such Action. The Company is not subject to any outstanding or prospective Governmental Order (including any motion or petition therefor) that does or could reasonably be expected to restrict or impair the use of any Company Intellectual Property or Licensed Intellectual Property.

- (h) Section 3.12(h) of the Disclosure Schedules contains a correct, current, and complete list of all social media accounts used in the Company's business. The Company has complied with all terms of use, terms of service, and other Contracts and all associated policies and guidelines relating to its use of any social media platforms, sites, or services (collectively, "Platform Agreements"). There are no Actions, whether settled, pending, or threatened, alleging any (i) breach or other violation of any Platform Agreement by the Company; or (ii) defamation, violation of publicity, privacy or other rights of any Person, or any other violation by the Company in connection with its use of social media.
- (i) Section 3.12(i) of the Disclosure Schedules contains a correct, current and complete list of the Company IT Systems and the Company Shared IT Systems, indicating which are Company IT Systems and which are Company Shared IT Systems. All Company IT Systems are in good working condition. The Company IT Systems, together with the Company Shared IT Systems that will be available in accordance with the terms of the Transition Services Agreement, shall be, during the term of the Transition Services Agreement, sufficient for the operation of the Company's business as currently conducted. There has been no malfunction, failure, continued substandard performance, denial-of-service, or other cyber incident, including any cyberattack, or other impairment of the Company IT Systems. The Company has taken commercially reasonable steps to safeguard the confidentiality, availability, security, and integrity of the Company IT Systems, including implementing and maintaining appropriate backup, disaster recovery, and Software and hardware support arrangements. The Company Shared IT Systems are owned, leased, or otherwise controlled by an Affiliate of the Company; subject to the terms of the Transition Services Agreement, the Company Shared IT Systems will not continue to be used by or accessible to the Company after the Closing, and Buyer is responsible for securing other IT Systems for the Company following Closing.
- (j) The Company has complied with all applicable Laws and all internal or publicly posted policies, notices, and statements concerning the collection, use, processing, storage, transfer, and security of personal information in the conduct of the Company's business. The Company has not (i) experienced any actual, alleged, or suspected data breach or other security incident involving personal information in its possession or control or (ii) been subject to or received any written or oral notice of any audit, investigation, complaint, or other Action by any Governmental Authority or other Person concerning the Company's collection, use, processing, storage, transfer, or protection of personal information or actual, alleged, or suspected violation of any applicable Law concerning privacy, data security, or data breach notification, and there are no facts or circumstances that could reasonably be expected to give rise to any such Action.
- (k) The Company Intellectual Property, the Licensed Intellectual Property, Company IT Systems and Software do not include and do not and have not used any data or other content or technology contained in or outputted therefrom in connection with any artificial intelligence system or technology (including, without limitation, any machine learning tools or models).

(l) No portion of the Company Intellectual Property, the Licensed Intellectual Property, Company IT Systems or Software, uses, calls, incorporates, interacts with, is a derivative of, or has embedded in it any source, object or other software code that is subject to an "open source," "copyleft," or other similar type of license (including any GNU General Public License, Library General Public License, Lesser General Public License, Mozilla License, Berkeley Software Distribution License, Open Source Initiative License, MIT, Apache, Reciprocal Public License, Academic Free License, Common Public Attribution License, Public Domain licenses and the like) (each an "Open Source License") in a manner that (i) requires the Company to disclose or license to any third party any source code of the Company; (ii) requires the Company to license a third party to create any derivative work based on any part of the Company Intellectual Property, including any Software or Company IT Systems; (iii) requires the Company to license a third party to distribute or redistribute or otherwise use any part of the Company Intellectual Property, including any Software or Company IT Systems; or (iv) requires the grant or license of any patent or other Intellectual Property rights. The Company has complied with all contractual obligations to display any attribution or proprietary rights notices of the licensor for any software licensed under an Open Source License or other third party software that is used in, called by, interacts with, or incorporated into any part of the Company Intellectual Property, including any Software or Company IT Systems.

Section 3.13 Inventory. All inventory of the Company, whether or not reflected in the Balance Sheet, consists of a quality and quantity usable and salable in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, except for obsolete, damaged, defective or slow-moving items that have been written off or written down to fair market value or for which adequate reserves have been established. All such inventory is owned by the Company free and clear of all Encumbrances, and no inventory is held on a consignment basis. The quantities of each item of inventory (whether raw materials, work-in-process or finished goods) are not excessive, but are reasonable in the present circumstances of the Company.

Section 3.14 Accounts Receivable. The accounts receivable reflected on the Interim Balance Sheet and the accounts receivable arising after the Interim Balance Sheet Date (a) have arisen from bona fide transactions entered into by the Company involving the sale of goods or the rendering of services in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice; (b) constitute only valid, undisputed claims of the Company not subject to claims of set-off or other defenses or counterclaims other than normal cash discounts accrued in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice; and (c) subject to a reserve for bad debts shown on the Interim Balance Sheet or, with respect to accounts receivable arising after the Interim Balance Sheet or, with respect to accounts receivable arising after the Interim Balance Sheet or, with respect to accounts receivable arising after the Interim Balance Sheet Date, on the accounting records of the Company have been determined in accordance with GAAP, consistently applied, subject to normal year-end adjustments and the absence of disclosures normally made in footnotes.

Section 3.15 Customers and Suppliers.

(a) Section 3.15(a) of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth (i) each customer who has paid aggregate consideration to the Company for goods or services rendered in an amount greater than or equal to \$250,000 for each or any of the two most recent fiscal years (collectively, the "Material Customers"); and (ii) the amount of consideration paid by each Material Customer during such periods. Except as set forth in Section 3.15(a) of the Disclosure Schedules, the Company has not received any notice, and has no reason to believe, that any of its Material Customers has ceased, or intends to cease after the Closing, to use its goods or services or to otherwise terminate or materially reduce its relationship with the Company.

(b) Section 3.15(b) of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth (i) each supplier to whom the Company has paid consideration for goods or services rendered in an amount greater than or equal to \$250,000 for the two most recent fiscal years (collectively, the "Material Suppliers"); and (ii) the amount of purchases from each Material Supplier during such periods. Except as set forth in Section 3.15(b) of the Disclosure Schedules, the Company has not received any notice, and has no reason to believe, that any of its Material Suppliers has ceased, or intends to cease, to supply goods or services to the Company or to otherwise terminate or materially reduce its relationship with the Company.

Section 3.16 Insurance. Section 3.16 of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth a true and complete list of all current policies or binders of fire. liability, product liability, umbrella liability, real and personal property, workers' compensation, vehicular, directors' and officers' liability, fiduciary liability and other casualty and property insurance maintained by Seller or its Affiliates (including the Company) and relating to the assets, business, operations, employees, officers and directors of the Company (collectively, the "Insurance Policies") and true and complete copies of the Insurance Policies have been made available to Buyer. The Insurance Policies are in full force and effect, and neither Seller nor its Affiliates (including the Company) shall cause the Insurance Policies to be terminated between the date of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Neither the Seller nor any of its Affiliates (including the Company) has received any written notice of cancellation of, premium increase with respect to, or alteration of coverage under, any of the Insurance Policies. All premiums due on the Insurance Policies have either been paid or, if due and payable prior to Closing, will be paid prior to Closing in accordance with the payment terms of each Insurance Policy. The Insurance Policies do not provide for any retrospective premium adjustment or other experience-based liability on the part of the Company. All the Insurance Policies (a) are valid and binding in accordance with their terms; (b) are provided by carriers who are financially solvent; and (c) have not been subject to any lapse in coverage. Except as set forth on Section 3.16 of the Disclosure Schedules, there are no claims related to the business of the Company pending under any Insurance Policies as to which coverage has been denied or disputed or in respect of which there is an outstanding reservation of rights. All claims related to the business of the Company pending under any Insurance Policies are the property or asset of the Company. None of Seller or any of its Affiliates (including the Company) is in default under, or has otherwise failed to comply with, in any material respect, any provision contained in any Insurance Policy. The Insurance Policies are of the type and in the amounts customarily carried by Persons conducting a business similar to the Company and are sufficient for compliance with all applicable Laws and Contracts to which the Company is a party or by which it is bound.

Section 3.17 Legal Proceedings; Governmental Orders.

- (a) Except as set forth in Section 3.17(a) of the Disclosure Schedules, there are no Actions pending or, to Seller's Knowledge, threatened (a) against or by the Company or affecting any of its properties or assets (or by or against Seller or any Affiliate thereof and relating to the Company); or (b) against or by the Company, Seller or any Affiliate of Seller that challenges or seeks to prevent, enjoin or otherwise delay the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. To Seller's Knowledge, no event has occurred or circumstances exist that may give rise to, or serve as a basis for, any such Action.
- (b) Except as set forth in Section 3.17(b) of the Disclosure Schedules, there are no outstanding Governmental Orders and no unsatisfied judgments, penalties or awards against or affecting the Company or any of its properties or assets. The Company is in compliance with the terms of each Governmental Order applicable to the Company, regardless of whether such Governmental Order is set forth in Section 3.17(b) of the Disclosure Schedules. To Seller's Knowledge, no event has occurred or circumstances exist that may constitute or result in (with or without notice or lapse of time) a violation of any such Governmental Order.

Section 3.18 Compliance With Laws; Permits.

- (a) Except as set forth in Section 3.18(a) of the Disclosure Schedules, the Company has complied, and is now complying, with all Laws applicable to it or its business, properties or assets.
- (b) All Permits required for the Company to conduct its business have been obtained by it and are valid and in full force and effect. All fees and charges with respect to such Permits as of the date hereof have been paid in full. Section 3.18(b) of the Disclosure Schedules lists all current Permits issued to the Company, including the names or types of the Permits and general timing of expiration of such Permits. The Company has complied and is now complying with the terms of all Permits listed on Section 3.18(b) of the Disclosure Schedules. To Seller's Knowledge, no event has occurred that, with or without notice or lapse of time or both, would reasonably be expected to result in the revocation, suspension, lapse or limitation of any Permit set forth in Section 3.18(b) of the Disclosure Schedules.

Section 3.19 Environmental Matters.

Except as set forth in Section 3.19 of the Disclosure Schedules:

(a) The Company is currently and has been in compliance with Environmental Law. Neither the Seller nor the Company has received from any Person any: (i) Environmental Notice or Environmental Claim; or (ii) written request for information pursuant to Environmental Law, which, in each case, either remains pending or unresolved or is the source of ongoing obligations or requirements as of the Closing Date.

- (b) The Company has obtained and is in compliance with all Environmental Permits (each of which is disclosed in Section 3.19(b) of the Disclosure Schedules) necessary for the ownership, lease, operation or use of the of the Real Property or for the business or assets of the Company, and all such Environmental Permits are in full force and effect and shall be maintained in full force and effect by the Company or the Seller through the Closing Date in accordance with Environmental Law and the Environmental Permits, and neither Seller nor the Company is aware of any condition, event or circumstance that might prevent or impede, after the Closing Date, the ownership, lease, or operation of the Real Property or use of the business or assets of the Company as currently carried out. With respect to any such Environmental Permits, Seller has undertaken, or will undertake prior to the Closing Date, all measures necessary to facilitate transferability of the same, and neither the Company nor the Seller is aware of any condition, event or circumstance that might prevent or impede the transferability of the same, nor have they received any Environmental Notice or written communication regarding any adverse change in the status or terms and conditions of the same.
- (c) Neither the Real Property nor any real property formerly owned, operated or leased by the Company is listed on, or has been proposed for listing on, the National Priorities List (or CERCLIS) under CERCLA, or any similar state list.
- (d) There has been no Release of Hazardous Materials at the Real Property, and neither the Company nor Seller has received an Environmental Notice that the Real Property or any real property formerly owned, operated or leased by the Company or used in connection with the business of the Company (including soils, groundwater, surface water, buildings and other structure located on any such real property) has been contaminated with any Hazardous Materials.
- (e) Section 3.19(e) of the Disclosure Schedules contains a complete and accurate list of all active or abandoned aboveground or underground storage tanks owned or operated by the Company, and a list of all real property owned, leased, or operated by the Company where aboveground or underground storage tanks were used.
- (f) Section 3.19(f) of the Disclosure Schedules contains a complete and accurate list of all off-site Hazardous Materials treatment, storage, or disposal facilities or locations used by the Company or Seller and any predecessors as to which the Company or Seller may retain liability, and none of these facilities or locations has been placed or proposed for placement on the National Priorities List (or CERCLIS) under CERCLA, or any similar state list, and neither Seller nor the Company has received any Environmental Notice regarding potential liabilities with respect to such off-site Hazardous Materials treatment, storage, or disposal facilities or locations used by the Company or Seller.
- (g) To Seller's Knowledge, neither Seller nor the Company has retained or assumed, by contract or operation of Law, any liabilities or obligations of any Person under Environmental Law or Environmental Permits.
- (h) Seller has provided or otherwise made available to Buyer and listed in Section 3.19(h) of the Disclosure Schedules: (i) any and all environmental reports, studies, audits, records, sampling data, site assessments, risk assessments, economic models and other similar documents which are in the possession or control of Seller or Company with respect to the business or assets of the Company, the Real Property or any

real property formerly owned, operated or leased by the Company; and (ii) any and all material documents concerning planned or anticipated capital expenditures required to reduce, offset, limit or otherwise control Hazardous Materials or otherwise ensure compliance with current or future Environmental Law (including, without limitation, costs of remediation, pollution control equipment and operational changes).

- (i) Neither the Seller nor the Company is aware of or reasonably anticipates any condition, event or circumstance concerning the Release or regulation of Hazardous Materials that might, after the Closing Date, prevent, impede or materially increase the costs associated with the ownership, lease, or operation of the Real Property or the performance or use of the business or assets of the Company as currently carried out.
- (j) Seller owns and controls all Environmental Attributes, if any (a complete and accurate list of which is set forth in Section 3.19(j) of the Disclosure Schedules), and has not entered into any contract or pledge to transfer, lease, license, guarantee, sell, mortgage, pledge or otherwise dispose of or encumber any Environmental Attributes as of the date hereof. Neither Seller nor the Company is aware of any condition, event or circumstance that might prevent, impede or materially increase the costs associated with the transfer (if required) to Buyer of any Environmental Attributes after the Closing Date.

Section 3.20 Employee Benefit Matters.

(a) Section 3.20(a) of the Disclosure Schedules contains a true and complete list of each pension, benefit, retirement, compensation, employment, consulting, profit-sharing, deferred compensation, incentive, bonus, performance award, phantom equity, stock or stock-based, change in control, retention, severance, vacation, paid time off (PTO), medical, vision, dental, disability, welfare, Code Section 125 cafeteria, fringe benefit and other similar agreement, plan, policy, program or arrangement (and any amendments thereto), in each case whether or not reduced to writing and whether funded or unfunded, including each "employee benefit plan" within the meaning of Section 3(3) of ERISA, whether or not tax-qualified and whether or not subject to ERISA, which is or has been maintained, sponsored, contributed to, or required to be contributed to by the Company for the benefit of any current or former employee, officer, director, retiree, independent contractor or consultant of the Company or any spouse or dependent of such individual, or under which the Company or any of its ERISA Affiliates has or may have any Liability, or with respect to which Buyer or any of its Affiliates would reasonably be expected to have any Liability, contingent or otherwise (as listed or required to be listed on Section 3.20(a) of the Disclosure Schedules, each, a "Benefit Plan"). The Company has separately identified in Section 3.20(a) of the Disclosure Schedules (i) each Benefit Plan that contains a change in control provision and (ii) each Benefit Plan that is maintained, sponsored, contributed to, or required to be contributed to by the Company primarily for the benefit of employees outside of the United States (a "Non-U.S. Benefit Plan").

(b) With respect to each Benefit Plan, Seller has made available to Buyer accurate, current and complete copies of each of the following:
(i) where the Benefit Plan has been reduced to writing, the plan document together with all amendments and participating employee agreements;
(ii) where the Benefit Plan has not been reduced to writing, a written summary of all material plan terms; (iii) where applicable, copies of any trust agreements or other funding arrangements, custodial agreements, insurance policies and contracts, administration agreements and similar agreements, and investment management or investment advisory agreements, now in effect or required in the future as a result of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or otherwise; (iv) copies of any currently effective summary plan descriptions and summaries of material modifications, the most recently issued summaries of benefits and coverage, sample COBRA communications, any employee handbooks and any other written communications (or a description of any oral communications) relating to any Benefit Plan; (v) in the case of any Benefit Plan that is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code, a copy of the most recent determination, opinion or advisory letter from the Internal Revenue Service and any legal opinions issued thereafter with respect to such Benefit Plan's continued qualification; (vi) in the case of any Benefit Plan for which a Form 5500 must be filed, a copy of the two most recently filed Forms 5500, with all corresponding schedules and financial statements attached; (vii) actuarial valuations and reports related to any Benefit Plans with respect to the two most recently completed plan years; (viii) the most recent nondiscrimination tests performed under the Code; and (ix) copies of material notices, letters or other correspondence from the Internal Revenue Service, U.S. Department of Labor, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation or other Governmental Authority relating to

(c) Except as set forth in Section 3.20(c) of the Disclosure Schedules, each Benefit Plan and any related trust (other than any multiemployer plan within the meaning of Section 3(37) of ERISA (each a "Multiemployer Plan")) has been established, administered and maintained in accordance with its terms and in compliance with all applicable Laws (including ERISA, the Code and any applicable local Laws). Each Benefit Plan that is intended to be qualified within the meaning of Section 401(a) of the Code (a "Qualified Benefit Plan") is so qualified and received a favorable and current determination letter from the Internal Revenue Service with respect to the most recent five year filing cycle, or with respect to a prototype or volume submitter plan, can rely on an opinion letter from the Internal Revenue Service to the prototype plan or volume submitter plan sponsor, to the effect that such Qualified Benefit Plan is so qualified and that the plan and the trust related thereto are exempt from federal income taxes under Sections 401(a) and 501(a), respectively, of the Code, and nothing has occurred that could reasonably be expected to adversely affect the qualified status of any Qualified Benefit Plan. Nothing has occurred with respect to any Benefit Plan that has subjected or could reasonably be expected to subject the Company or any of its ERISA Affiliates or, with respect to any period on or after the Closing Date, Buyer or any of its Affiliates, to a penalty under Section 502 of ERISA or to tax or penalty under Sections 4975 or 4980H of the Code.

No pension plan (other than a Multiemployer Plan) which is subject to minimum funding requirements, including any multiple employer plan, (each, a "Single Employer Plan") in which employees of the Company or any ERISA Affiliate participate or have participated has an "accumulated funding deficiency," whether or not

waived, or is subject to a lien for unpaid contributions under Section 303(k) of ERISA or Section 430(k) of the Code. No Single Employer Plan covering employees of the Company which is a defined benefit plan has an "adjusted funding target attainment percentage," as defined in Section 436 of the Code, less than 90%. Except as set forth in Section 3.20(c) of the Disclosure Schedules, all benefits, contributions and premiums relating to each Benefit Plan have been timely paid in accordance with the terms of such Benefit Plan and all applicable Laws and accounting principles, and all benefits accrued under any unfunded Benefit Plan have been paid, accrued or otherwise adequately reserved to the extent required by, and in accordance with, GAAP. All Non-U.S. Benefit Plans that are intended to be funded and/or book-reserved are funded and/or book-reserved, as appropriate, based upon reasonable actuarial assumptions.

- (d) Neither the Company nor any of its ERISA Affiliates has (i) incurred or reasonably expects to incur, either directly or indirectly, any material Liability under Title I or Title IV of ERISA or related provisions of the Code or applicable local Law relating to employee benefit plans; (ii) failed to timely pay premiums to the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation; (iii) withdrawn from any Benefit Plan without satisfying the liabilities associated with such withdrawal; (iv) engaged in any transaction which would give rise to liability under Section 4069 or Section 4212(c) of ERISA; (v) incurred taxes under Section 4971 of the Code with respect to any Single Employer Plan; or (vi) participated in a multiple employer welfare arrangement (MEWA).
- (e) With respect to each Benefit Plan (i) except as set forth in Section 3.20(e) of the Disclosure Schedules, no such plan is a Multiemployer Plan, and (A) all contributions required to be paid by the Company or its ERISA Affiliates have been timely paid to the applicable Multiemployer Plan; (B) neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate has incurred any withdrawal liability under Title IV of ERISA which remains unsatisfied, and (C) a complete withdrawal from all such Multiemployer Plans on the Closing Date would not result in any material liability to the Company and no Multiemployer Plan is in critical, endangered or seriously endangered status or has suffered a mass withdrawal; (ii) except as set forth in Section 3.20(e) of the Disclosure Schedules, no such plan is a "multiple employer plan" within the meaning of Section 413(c) of the Code or a "multiple employer welfare arrangement" (as defined in Section 3(40) of ERISA); (iii) no Action has been initiated by the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation to terminate any such plan or to appoint a trustee for any such plan; (iv) except as set forth in Section 3.20(e) of the Disclosure Schedules, no such plan or the plan of any ERISA Affiliate maintained or contributed to within the last six (6) years is a Single Employer Plan subject to Title IV of ERISA; and (v) no "reportable event," as defined in Section 4043 of ERISA, with respect to which the reporting requirement has not been waived has occurred with respect to any such plan.
- (f) With respect to each Benefit Plan that is a group health plan that is subject to Section 4980B of the Code, the Company and each of its ERISA Affiliates have complied with the continuation coverage requirements of Section 4980B of the Code and part 6 of subtitle B of Title I of ERISA. No Benefit Plan is or at any time was funded through a "welfare benefit fund" as defined in Section 419(e) of the Code, and no benefits under any Benefit Plan are or at any time have been provided through a voluntary employees' beneficiary association (within the meaning of Section 501(c)(9) of the Code) or a supplemental unemployment benefit plan (within the meaning of Section 501(c)(17) of the Code).

- (g) Each Benefit Plan that will be assumed by Buyer or that will remain with the Company can be amended, terminated or otherwise discontinued after the Closing in accordance with its terms, without material liabilities to Buyer, the Company or any of their Affiliates other than ordinary administrative expenses typically incurred in a termination event. The Company has no commitment or obligation and has not made any representations to any employee, officer, director, independent contractor or consultant, whether or not legally binding, to adopt, amend, modify or terminate, or to refrain from adopting, amending, modifying or terminating, any Benefit Plan or any collective bargaining agreement, in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or otherwise.
- (h) Except as set forth in Section 3.20(h) of the Disclosure Schedules and other than as required under Sections 601 to 608 of ERISA or other applicable Law, no Benefit Plan provides post-termination or retiree health benefits to any individual for any reason, and neither the Company nor any of its ERISA Affiliates has any Liability to provide post-termination or retiree health benefits to any individual or ever represented, promised or contracted to any individual that such individual would be provided with post-termination or retiree health benefits.
- (i) Except as set forth in Section 3.20(i) of the Disclosure Schedules, there is no pending or, to Seller's Knowledge, threatened Action relating to a Benefit Plan (other than routine claims for benefits), and no Benefit Plan has within the four years prior to the date hereof been the subject of an examination or audit by a Governmental Authority or the subject of an application or filing under or is a participant in, an amnesty, voluntary compliance, self-correction or similar program sponsored by any Governmental Authority.
- (j) There has been no amendment to, announcement by Seller, the Company or any of their Affiliates relating to, or change in employee participation or coverage under, any Benefit Plan or collective bargaining agreement that would materially increase the annual expense of maintaining such plan above the level of the expense incurred for the most recently completed fiscal year with respect to any director, officer, employee, independent contractor or consultant, as applicable. None of Seller, the Company, nor any of their Affiliates has any commitment or obligation or has made any representations to any director, officer, employee, independent contractor or consultant, whether or not legally binding, to adopt, amend, modify or terminate any Benefit Plan or any collective bargaining agreement.
- (k) Each Benefit Plan that is subject to Section 409A of the Code has been administered in compliance with its terms and the operational and documentary requirements of Section 409A of the Code and all applicable regulatory guidance (including notices, rulings and proposed and final regulations) thereunder. The Company does not have any obligation to gross up, indemnify or otherwise reimburse any individual for any excise taxes, interest or penalties incurred pursuant to Section 409A of the Code.

- (1) Each individual who is excluded from participation in a Benefit Plan sponsored by the Company based on the individual's status as an independent contractor or a leased employee has been properly classified by the Company as an independent contractor or a leased employee.
- (m) Except as set forth in Section 3.20(m) of the Disclosure Schedules, neither the execution of this Agreement nor any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will (either alone or upon the occurrence of any additional or subsequent events): (i) entitle any current or former director, officer, employee, independent contractor or consultant of the Company to severance pay or any other payment; (ii) accelerate the time of payment, funding or vesting, or increase the amount of compensation (including stock-based compensation) due to any such individual; (iii) limit or restrict the right of the Company to merge, amend, or terminate any Benefit Plan; (iv) increase the amount payable under or result in any other material obligation pursuant to any Benefit Plan; (v) result in "excess parachute payments" within the meaning of Section 280G(b) of the Code; or (vi) require a "gross-up" or other payment to any "disqualified individual" within the meaning of Section 280G(c) of the Code. Seller has made available to Buyer true and complete copies of any Section 280G calculations prepared (whether or not final) with respect to any disqualified individual in connection with the transactions.

Section 3.21 Employment Matters.

- (a) Section 3.21(a) of the Disclosure Schedules contains a list of all persons who are employees, independent contractors or consultants of the Company as of the date hereof, including any employee who is on a leave of absence of any nature, paid or unpaid, authorized or unauthorized, and sets forth for each such individual the following: (i) name; (ii) title or position (including whether full-time or part-time); (iii) hire or retention date; (iv) current annual base compensation rate or contract fee; (v) commission, bonus or other incentive-based compensation; and (vi) a description of the fringe benefits provided to each such individual as of the date hereof. Except as set forth in Section 3.21(a) of the Disclosure Schedules, all compensation, including wages, commissions, bonuses, fees and other compensation, payable to all employees, independent contractors or consultants of the Company for services performed have been paid in full (or accrued in full on the audited balance sheet contained in the Estimated Closing Statement) and there are no outstanding agreements, understandings or commitments of the Company with respect to any compensation, commissions, bonuses or fees. Each individual who is classified by the Company as an independent contractor has been properly classified.
- (b) Except as set forth in Section 3.21(b) of the Disclosure Schedules, the Company is not, and has not been for the past six years, a party to, bound by, or negotiating any collective bargaining agreement or other Contract with a union, works council or labor organization (collectively, "Union"), and there is not, and has not been

for the past six years, any Union representing or purporting to represent any employee of the Company, and, to Seller's Knowledge, no Union or group of employees is seeking or has sought to organize employees for the purpose of collective bargaining. Except as set forth in Section 3.21(b) of the Disclosure Schedules, there has never been, nor has there been any threat of, any strike, slowdown, work stoppage, lockout, concerted refusal to work overtime or other similar labor disruption or dispute affecting the Company or any of its employees. The Company has no duty to bargain with any Union.

- (c) The Company is and has been in compliance with the terms of the collective bargaining agreements and other Contracts listed or required to be listed on Section 3.21(b) of the Disclosure Schedules and all applicable Laws pertaining to employment and employment practices, including all Laws relating to labor relations, equal employment opportunities, fair employment practices, employment discrimination, harassment, retaliation, reasonable accommodation, disability rights or benefits, immigration, wages, hours, overtime compensation, child labor, hiring, promotion and termination of employees, working conditions, meal and break periods, privacy, health and safety, workers' compensation, leaves of absence, paid sick leave and unemployment insurance. All individuals characterized and treated by the Company as independent contractors or consultants are properly treated as independent contractors under all applicable Laws. All employees of the Company classified as exempt under the Fair Labor Standards Act and state and local wage and hour laws are properly classified. The Company is in compliance with and has complied with all immigration laws, including Form I-9 requirements and any applicable mandatory E-Verify obligations. Except as set forth in Section 3.21(c), there are no Actions against the Company pending, or to the Seller's Knowledge, threatened to be brought or filed, by or with any Governmental Authority or arbitrator in connection with the employment of any current or former applicant, employee, consultant, volunteer, intern or independent contractor of the Company, including, without limitation, any charge, investigation or claim relating to unfair labor practices, equal employment opportunities, fair employment practices, employment discrimination, harassment, retaliation, reasonable accommodation, disability rights or benefits, immigration, wages, hours, overtime compensation, employee classification, child labor, hiring, promotion and termination of employees, working conditions, meal and break periods, privacy, health and safety, workers' compensation, leaves of absence, paid sick leave, unemployment insurance or any other employment related matter arising under applicable Laws.
 - (d) The Company has complied with the WARN Act, and it has no plans to undertake any action that would trigger the WARN Act.
- (e) With respect to each Government Contract, the Company is and has been in compliance with Executive Order No. 11246 of 1965 ("E.O. 11246"), Section 503 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 ("Section 503") and the Vietnam Era Veterans' Readjustment Assistance Act of 1974 ("VEVRAA"), including all implementing regulations. The Company maintains and complies with affirmative action plans in compliance with E.O. 11246, Section 503 and VEVRAA, including all implementing regulations. The Company is not, and has not been for the past six years, the subject of any audit, investigation or enforcement action by any Governmental Authority in connection with any Government Contract or related compliance with E.O. 11246, Section 503 or VEVRAA. The Company has not been debarred, suspended or otherwise made ineligible from doing business with the United States government or any government contractor.

Section 3.22 Taxes. Except as set forth in Section 3.22 of the Disclosure Schedules:

- (a) All Tax Returns required to be filed on or before the Closing Date by the Company have been, or will be, timely filed. Such Tax Returns are, or will be, true, complete and correct in all respects. All Taxes due and owing by the Company (whether or not shown on any Tax Return) have been, or will be, timely paid.
- (b) The Company has withheld and timely paid each Tax required to have been withheld and paid in connection with amounts paid or owing to any employee, independent contractor, creditor, customer, shareholder or other party, and complied with all information reporting and backup withholding provisions of applicable Law.
- (c) No claim has been made by any taxing authority in any jurisdiction where the Company does not file a particular type of Tax Return or pay a particular type of Tax that it is, or may be, subject to a particular Tax Return filing requirement or a particular type of Tax imposed by that jurisdiction.
 - (d) No extensions or waivers of statutes of limitations have been given or requested with respect to any Taxes of the Company.
- (e) The amount of the Company's Liability for unpaid Taxes for all periods ending on or before the Interim Balance Sheet Date does not, in the aggregate, exceed the amount of accruals for Taxes (excluding reserves for deferred Taxes) reflected on the Interim Balance Sheet. The amount of the Company's Liability for unpaid Taxes for all periods following the end of the recent period covered by the Interim Financial Statements shall not, in the aggregate, exceed the amount of accruals for Taxes (excluding reserves for deferred Taxes due solely to timing difference between book and tax income) as adjusted for the passage of time in accordance with the past custom and practice of the Company (and which accruals shall not exceed comparable amounts incurred in similar periods in prior years).
 - (f) Section 3.22(f) of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth:
 - (i) the taxable years of the Company as to which the applicable statutes of limitations on the assessment and collection of Taxes have not expired;
 - (ii) those years for which examinations by the taxing authorities have been completed; and
 - (iii) those taxable years for which examinations by taxing authorities are presently being conducted.

- (g) All deficiencies asserted, or assessments made, against the Company as a result of any examinations by any taxing authority have been fully paid.
 - (h) The Company is not a party to any Action by any taxing authority. There are no pending or threatened Actions by any taxing authority.
- (i) Seller has delivered to Buyer copies of all federal, state, local and foreign income, franchise and similar Tax Returns, examination reports, and statements of deficiencies assessed against, or agreed to by, the Company for all Tax periods ending after December 31, 2020.
 - (j) There are no Encumbrances for Taxes (other than for current Taxes not yet due and payable) upon the assets of the Company.
- (k) The Company has not been and is not a party to, or bound by, any Tax indemnity, Tax sharing or Tax allocation agreement, except for the Company's internal Tax sharing agreement with Seller dated April 13, 2023.
- (l) No private letter rulings, technical advice memoranda or similar agreement or rulings have been requested, entered into or issued by any taxing authority with respect to the Company.
- (m) Other than the group of which the common parent is the Seller, the Company is not and has never been a member of an affiliated, combined, consolidated or unitary Tax group for Tax purposes. The Company has no Liability for Taxes of any Person (other than a group the common parent of which is Seller) under Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-6 (or any corresponding provision of state, local or foreign Law), as transferee or successor, by contract or otherwise.
- (n) The Company will not be required to include any item of income in, or exclude any item or deduction from, taxable income for any taxable period or portion thereof ending after the Closing Date as a result of:
 - (i) any change in a method of accounting under Section 481 of the Code (or any comparable provision of state, local or foreign Tax Laws), or use of an improper method of accounting, for a taxable period ending on or prior to the Closing Date;
 - (ii) an installment sale or open transaction occurring on or prior to the Closing Date;
 - (iii) any closing agreement under Section 7121 of the Code, or similar provision of state, local or foreign Law;
 - (iv) any intercompany transactions or any excess loss account described in Treasury Regulations under Section 1502 of the Code (or any corresponding or similar provision of state or local income Tax Law); or

- (v) any election under Section 108(i) or 965(h) of the Code.
- (o) Seller is not a "foreign person" as that term is used in Treasury Regulations Section 1.1445-2. The Company is not, nor has it been, a United States real property holding corporation (as defined in Section 897(c)(2) of the Code) during the applicable period in Section 897(c)(1)(a) of the Code.
- (p) The Company has not been a "distributing corporation" or a "controlled corporation" in connection with a distribution described in Section 355 of the Code.
- (q) The Company is not, and has not been, a party to, or a promoter of, a "reportable transaction" within the meaning of Section 6707A(c)(1) of the Code and Treasury Regulations Section 1.6011-4(b).
- (r) Section 3.22(r) of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth all foreign jurisdictions in which the Company currently files any Tax Returns, is engaged in business or has a permanent establishment. The Company has not entered into a gain recognition agreement pursuant to Treasury Regulations Section 1.367(a)-8. The Company has not transferred an intangible the transfer of which would be subject to the rules of Section 367(d) of the Code.
- (s) No property owned by the Company is (i) required to be treated as being owned by another person pursuant to the so-called "safe harbor lease" provisions of former Section 168(f)(8) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended, (ii) subject to Section 168(g)(1)(A) of the Code, or (iii) subject to a disqualified leaseback or long-term agreement as defined in Section 467 of the Code.
 - (t) The Company has not deferred any payroll or employment Taxes or claimed any other benefit or relief pursuant to the CARES Act.
- (u) All related party transactions between the Company, on the one hand, and Seller or its Affiliates, on the other hand, have been, in all respects, on an arms' length basis in accordance with Section 482 of the Code, or any state or foreign law equivalent, and are supported by contemporaneous transfer pricing documentation.
- (v) The Company has duly collected and remitted all material sales, use, excise and similar Taxes, timely filed true and accurate sales, use and similar Tax Returns and retained all supporting documentation, in each case, related or attributable to its business in material compliance with applicable Law.

Section 3.23 Books and Records. The minute books and stock record books of the Company, all of which have been made available to Buyer, are complete and correct and have been maintained in accordance with sound business practices. The minute books of the Company contain accurate and complete records of all meetings, and actions taken by written consent of, the stockholders, the board of directors and any committees of the board of directors of the Company, and no meeting, or action taken by written consent, of any such stockholders, board of directors or committee has been held for which minutes have not been prepared and are not contained in such minute books. At the Closing, all of those books and records will be available

to the Company in physical or electronic form and, pursuant to the terms of the Transition Services Agreement, all books and records not in the possession of the Company as of the Closing will be transferred to Company's possession after Closing. Subject to the foregoing, books and records shall include all physical and electronic files, documents, contracts, manuals, policies and procedures and other data, including personnel files, corporate stock records and all legal source documents pertinent to the Company, including documents relating to the following subject areas: construction plant, utility operations; customer records; human resources; regulatory proceedings; and general ledger records.

Section 3.24 Related Party Transactions. Except as set forth on Section 3.24 of the Disclosure Schedules, there are no Contracts or other arrangements involving the Company in which Seller, its Affiliates, or any of its or their respective directors, officers, or employees or any immediate family members thereof is a party, has a financial interest, or otherwise owns or leases any material asset, property, or right which is used by the Company.

Section 3.25 Brokers. No broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder's or other fee or commission in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any Ancillary Document based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Seller or the Company.

Section 3.26 Certain Regulatory Matters.

- (a) The Company is subject to regulation as a public utility by the MPUC. The Company is not (i) a "public utility" within the meaning of Section 201(e) of the Power Act, (ii) a "qualifying facility" within the meaning of the Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act of 1978, as amended, and does not own such a qualifying facility or (iii) subject to regulation as a public utility or public service company (or similar designation) of any other state in the United States or in any foreign country. The Company is in compliance in all material respects with the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 2005 and the rules, regulations and staff interpretations thereunder. All filings, including all forms, statements, reports and agreements and all documents, exhibits, amendments and supplements appertaining thereto, including all rates, tariffs, franchises, service agreements and related documents, required to be made by the Company, under MPUC regulations or any Law applicable to public utilities, have been made in accordance with, and complied, as of their respective dates, with applicable Law and the requirements of the relevant Governmental Authorities.
- (b) The Company (i) does not have rates which have been or are being collected subject to refund, pending final resolution of any proceeding pending before a Governmental Authority or on appeal to the courts or (ii) is not a party to any proceeding before a Governmental Authority or on appeal from orders of a Governmental Authority.
- (c) The Company follows risk parameters, limits and guidelines that are in compliance with its risk management policy (each, the "**Hedging Guidelines**"), an accurate and complete copy of which has been provided to Buyer prior to the date hereof, to (i) restrict the level of risk that the Company is authorized to take with respect to, among other things, the net position resulting from all physical and financial natural gas

hedge contracts, exchange-traded futures and options transactions, over-the-counter transactions and derivatives thereof, interest rate swap agreements, and similar transactions (the "Net Position") and (ii) monitor compliance with its Hedging Guidelines with such risk parameters. The Net Position is within the risk parameters that are set forth in each of the Hedging Guidelines and the exposure of the Company with respect to the Net Position resulting from all transactions described in the clause above would not reasonably be expected to result in a material loss to the Company, based on market prices in existence as of the date hereof. The Company has not, in accordance with its accounting policies, experienced an aggregate net loss in its hedging and related operations that would be material to such entity taking into account the recognition of any underlying commodity sales.

ARTICLE IV REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER

Except as set forth in the correspondingly numbered Section of the Disclosure Schedules, Buyer represents and warrants to Seller that the statements contained in this ARTICLE IV are true and correct as of the date hereof.

Section 4.01 Organization and Authority of Buyer. Buyer is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the state of New Hampshire. Buyer has full corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents to which Buyer is or will be a party, to carry out its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The execution and delivery by Buyer of this Agreement and any Ancillary Document to which Buyer is or will be a party, the performance by Buyer of its obligations hereunder and the consummation by Buyer of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly authorized by all requisite corporate action on the part of Buyer. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Buyer, and (assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by Seller) this Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of Buyer enforceable against Buyer in accordance with its terms. When each Ancillary Document to which Buyer is or will be a party has been duly executed and delivered by Buyer (assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by each other party thereto), such Ancillary Document will constitute a legal and binding obligation of Buyer enforceable against it in accordance with its terms.

Section 4.02 No Conflicts; Consents. Except as set forth in Section 4.02 of the Disclosure Schedules or as would not have a material adverse effect on the ability of Buyer to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby on a timely basis, the execution, delivery and performance by Buyer of this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents to which it is or will be a party, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, do not and will not: (a) conflict with or result in a violation or breach of, or default under, any provision of the certificate of incorporation, by-laws or other organizational documents of Buyer; (b) conflict with or result in a violation or breach of any provision of any Law or Governmental Order applicable to Buyer or require or trigger any requirement for any consent, approval, Permit, Governmental Order, declaration or filing with, or notice to, any Governmental Authority, except for the MPUC Order; or (c) require the consent, notice or other action by any Person under any Contract to which Buyer is a party.

Section 4.03 Investment Purpose. Buyer is acquiring the Shares solely for its own account for investment purposes and not with a view to, or for offer or sale in connection with, any distribution thereof. Buyer acknowledges that the Shares are not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or any state securities laws, and that the Shares may not be transferred or sold except pursuant to the registration provisions of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended or pursuant to an applicable exemption therefrom and subject to state securities laws and regulations, as applicable.

Section 4.04 Brokers. No broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder's or other fee or commission in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any Ancillary Document based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Buyer.

Section 4.05 Sufficiency of Funds. Buyer has sufficient cash on hand or other sources of immediately available funds to enable it to make payment of the Purchase Price (including any adjustment amounts that may become payable by Buyer under Section 2.04 of this Agreement) and consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 4.06 Legal Proceedings. Except as set forth in Section 4.06 of the Disclosure Schedules, there are no Actions pending or, to Buyer's Knowledge, threatened against or by Buyer or any Affiliate of Buyer that challenge or seek to prevent, enjoin or otherwise delay the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. No event has occurred or circumstances exist that may give rise or serve as a basis for any such Action.

ARTICLE V COVENANTS

Section 5.01 Conduct of Business Prior to the Closing. From the date hereof until the Closing, except as otherwise provided in this Agreement or consented to in writing by Buyer (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), Seller shall, and shall cause the Company to, (x) conduct the business of the Company in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice; and (y) use reasonable best efforts to maintain and preserve intact the current organization, business and franchise of the Company and to preserve the rights, franchises, goodwill and relationships of its employees, unions, customers, lenders, suppliers, regulators and others having business relationships with the Company. Without limiting the foregoing, from the date hereof until the Closing Date, Seller shall cause the Company to:

- (a) preserve and maintain all of its Permits, to the extent such Permits continue to be necessary for the conduct of the business of the Company as currently conducted and as proposed to be conducted in the absence of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement;
 - (b) pay its debts, Taxes and other obligations when due;

- (c) maintain the properties and assets owned, operated or used by the Company in the same condition as they were on the date of this Agreement, subject to reasonable wear and tear;
 - (d) continue in full force and effect without modification all Insurance Policies, except as required by applicable Law;
 - (e) defend and protect its properties and assets from infringement or usurpation;
 - (f) perform all of its obligations under all Contracts relating to or affecting its properties, assets or business;
 - (g) maintain its books and records in accordance with past practice;
 - (h) comply in all material respects with all applicable Laws; and
 - (i) not take or permit any action that would cause any of the changes, events or conditions described in Section 3.08 to occur.

Section 5.02 Access to Information. From the date hereof until the Closing, Seller shall, and shall cause the Company to, (a) at reasonable times during normal business hours and upon at least 24 hours' notice, afford Buyer and its Representatives full and free access to and the right to inspect all of the Real Property, properties, assets, premises, books and records, Contracts and other documents and data related to the Company; (b) furnish Buyer and its Representatives with such financial, operating and other data and information related to the Company as Buyer or any of its Representatives may reasonably request; and (c) instruct the Representatives of Seller and the Company to cooperate with Buyer in its investigation of the Company. Without limiting the foregoing, Seller shall permit Buyer and its Representatives to conduct non-invasive environmental due diligence of the Company and the Real Property. Any investigation pursuant to this Section 5.02 shall be conducted in such manner as not to interfere unreasonably with the conduct of the business of Seller or the Company nor cause damage to any real or personal property. No investigation by Buyer or other information received by Buyer shall operate as a waiver or otherwise affect any representation, warranty or agreement given or made by Seller in this Agreement.

Section 5.03 No Solicitation of Other Bids.

(a) Seller shall not, and shall not authorize or permit any of its Affiliates (including the Company) or any of its or their Representatives to, directly or indirectly, (i) encourage, solicit, initiate, facilitate or continue inquiries regarding an Acquisition Proposal; (ii) enter into discussions or negotiations with, or provide any information to, any Person concerning a possible Acquisition Proposal; or (iii) enter into any agreements or other instruments (whether or not binding) regarding an Acquisition Proposal. Seller shall immediately cease and cause to be terminated, and shall cause its Affiliates (including the Company) and all of its and their Representatives to immediately cease and cause to be terminated, all existing discussions or negotiations with any Persons conducted heretofore with respect to, or that could lead to, an Acquisition Proposal. For

purposes hereof, "Acquisition Proposal" shall mean any inquiry, proposal or offer from any Person (other than Buyer or any of its Affiliates) concerning (i) a merger, consolidation, liquidation, recapitalization, share exchange or other business combination transaction involving the Company; (ii) the issuance or acquisition of shares of capital stock or other equity securities of the Company; or (iii) the sale, lease, exchange or other disposition of any significant portion of the Company's properties or assets.

- (b) In addition to the other obligations under this Section 5.03, Seller shall promptly (and in any event within three Business Days after receipt thereof by Seller, the Company, or any of their Affiliates or Representatives) advise Buyer orally and in writing of any Acquisition Proposal, any request for information with respect to any Acquisition Proposal, or any inquiry with respect to or which could reasonably be expected to result in an Acquisition Proposal, the material terms and conditions of such request, Acquisition Proposal or inquiry, and the identity of the Person making the same.
- (c) Seller agrees that the rights and remedies for noncompliance with this Section 5.03 shall include having such provision specifically enforced by any court having equity jurisdiction (without any requirement to post bond), it being acknowledged and agreed that any such breach or threatened breach shall cause irreparable injury to Buyer and that money damages would not provide an adequate remedy to Buyer.

Section 5.04 Notice of Certain Events.

- (a) From the date hereof until the Closing, Seller shall promptly notify Buyer in writing of:
- (i) any fact, circumstance, event or action the existence, occurrence or taking of which (A) has had, or could reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect, (B) has resulted in, or could reasonably be expected to result in, any representation or warranty made by Seller hereunder not being true and correct or (C) has resulted in, or could reasonably be expected to result in, the failure of any of the conditions set forth in Section 7.02 to be satisfied;
- (ii) any notice or other communication from any Person alleging that the consent of such Person is or may be required in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement;
- (iii) any notice or other communication from any Governmental Authority in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement;
- (iv) the termination for cause, resignation or retirement of any Company Employee or officer or director of the Company, or the adoption, modification, or termination of any agreement with any independent contractor or consultant of the Company; and

- (v) any Actions commenced or, to Seller's Knowledge, threatened against, relating to or involving or otherwise affecting Seller or the Company that, if pending on the date of this Agreement, would have been required to have been disclosed pursuant to Section 3.17 or that relates to the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- (b) Buyer's receipt of information pursuant to this Section 5.04 shall not operate as a waiver or otherwise affect any representation, warranty or agreement given or made by Seller in this Agreement (including Section 8.02 and Section 9.01(b)) and shall not amend or supplement the Disclosure Schedules.

Section 5.05 Resignations. Seller shall deliver to Buyer in writing, effective as of the Closing Effective Time, resignations, from their respective officer and director positions, of the officers and directors of the Company set forth on Section 5.05 of the Disclosure Schedules or requested by Buyer at least five Business Days prior to the Closing. For the avoidance of doubt, where such persons are employees of the Company, such resignations shall not include resignation from employment.

Section 5.06 Confidentiality. From and after the Closing, Seller shall, and shall cause its Affiliates to, hold, and shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause its or their respective Representatives to hold, in confidence any and all information, whether written or oral, concerning the Company, except to the extent that Seller can show that such information (a) is generally available to and known by the public through no fault of Seller, any of its Affiliates or their respective Representatives; or (b) is lawfully acquired by Seller, any of its Affiliates or their respective Representatives from and after the Closing from sources which are not prohibited from disclosing such information by a legal, contractual or fiduciary obligation. If Seller or any of its Affiliates or their respective Representatives are compelled to disclose any information by judicial or administrative process or by other requirements of Law, Seller shall promptly notify Buyer in writing and shall disclose only that portion of such information which Seller is advised by its counsel in writing is legally required to be disclosed, *provided that* Seller shall use reasonable best efforts to obtain an appropriate protective order or other reasonable assurance that confidential treatment will be accorded such information.

Section 5.07 Non-Competition; Non-Solicitation.

(a) For a period of five years commencing on the Closing Date (the "Restricted Period"), Seller shall not, and shall not permit any of its Affiliates to, directly or indirectly, (i) engage in or assist others in engaging in the Restricted Business in the Territory; (ii) have an interest in any Person that engages directly or indirectly in the Restricted Business in the Territory in any capacity, including as a partner, shareholder, member, employee, principal, agent, trustee or consultant; or (iii) intentionally interfere in any material respect with the business relationships (whether formed prior to or after the date of this Agreement) between the Company and customers or suppliers of the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Seller may own, directly or indirectly, solely as an investment, securities of any Person traded on any national securities exchange if Seller is not a controlling Person of, or a member of a group which controls, such Person and does not, directly or indirectly, own 1% or more of any class of securities of such Person.

- (b) During the Restricted Period, Seller shall not, and shall not permit any of its Affiliates to, directly or indirectly, hire or solicit any employee of the Company or encourage any such employee to leave such employment or hire any such employee who has left such employment, except pursuant to a general solicitation which is not directed specifically to any such employees; *provided, that* nothing in this Section 5.07(b) shall prevent Seller or any of its Affiliates from hiring (i) any employee whose employment has been terminated by the Company or Buyer or (ii) after 180 days from the date of termination of employment, any employee whose employment has been terminated by the employee.
- (c) During the Restricted Period, Seller shall not, and shall not permit any of its Affiliates to, directly or indirectly, solicit or entice, or attempt to solicit or entice, any clients or customers of the Company or potential clients or customers of the Company for purposes of diverting their business or services from the Company.
- (d) Seller acknowledges that a breach or threatened breach of this Section 5.07 would give rise to irreparable harm to Buyer, for which monetary damages would not be an adequate remedy, and hereby agrees that in the event of a breach or a threatened breach by Seller of any such obligations, Buyer shall, in addition to any and all other rights and remedies that may be available to it in respect of such breach, be entitled to equitable relief, including a temporary restraining order, an injunction, specific performance and any other relief that may be available from a court of competent jurisdiction (without any requirement to post bond).
- (e) Seller acknowledges that the restrictions contained in this Section 5.07 are reasonable and necessary to protect the legitimate interests of Buyer and constitute a material inducement to Buyer to enter into this Agreement and consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. In the event that any covenant contained in this Section 5.07 should ever be adjudicated to exceed the time, geographic, product or service, or other limitations permitted by applicable Law in any jurisdiction, then any court is expressly empowered to reform such covenant, and such covenant shall be deemed reformed, in such jurisdiction to the maximum time, geographic, product or service, or other limitations permitted by applicable Law. The covenants contained in this Section 5.07 and each provision hereof are severable and distinct covenants and provisions. The invalidity or unenforceability of any such covenant or provision as written shall not invalidate or render unenforceable the remaining covenants or provisions hereof, and any such invalidity or unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such covenant or provision in any other jurisdiction.

Section 5.08 Governmental Approvals and Consents.

(a) Each party hereto shall, as promptly as possible, (i) make, or cause to be made, all filings and submissions (including those under the HSR Act and those with the MPUC) required under any Law applicable to such party or any of its Affiliates or that may be or become necessary for its execution and delivery of this Agreement and the performance of its obligations pursuant to this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents; (ii) use reasonable best efforts to obtain, or cause to be obtained, all consents,

authorizations, orders and approvals from all Governmental Authorities that may be or become necessary for its execution and delivery of this Agreement and the performance of its obligations pursuant to this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents; and (iii) use reasonable best efforts to obtain, or cause to be obtained, the MPUC Order. Each party shall cooperate fully with the other party and its Affiliates in promptly seeking to obtain all such consents, authorizations, orders and approvals. The parties hereto shall not willfully take any action that will have the effect of delaying, impairing or impeding the receipt of any required consents, authorizations, orders and approvals.

- (b) Seller and Buyer shall use reasonable best efforts to give all notices to, and obtain all consents from, all third parties that are described in Section 3.05 and Section 4.02 of the Disclosure Schedules.
- (c) Without limiting the generality of the parties' undertakings pursuant to subsections (a) and (b) above, each of the parties hereto shall use all reasonable best efforts to:
 - (i) respond to any inquiries by any Governmental Authority regarding antitrust or other matters with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any Ancillary Document;
 - (ii) avoid the imposition of any order or the taking of any action that would restrain, alter or enjoin the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any Ancillary Document; and
 - (iii) in the event any Governmental Order adversely affecting the ability of the parties to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any Ancillary Document has been issued, to have such Governmental Order vacated or lifted.
- (d) If any consent, approval or authorization necessary to preserve any right or benefit under any Contract to which the Company is a party is not obtained prior to the Closing, Seller shall, subsequent to the Closing, cooperate with Buyer and the Company in attempting to obtain such consent, approval or authorization as promptly thereafter as practicable. If such consent, approval or authorization cannot be obtained, Seller shall use its reasonable best efforts to provide the Company with the rights and benefits of the affected Contract for the term thereof, and, if Seller provides such rights and benefits, the Company shall assume all obligations and burdens thereunder.
- (e) All analyses, appearances, meetings, discussions, presentations, memoranda, briefs, filings, arguments, and proposals made by or on behalf of either party before any Governmental Authority or the staff or regulators of any Governmental Authority, in connection with the transactions contemplated hereunder (but, for the avoidance of doubt, not including (i) any interactions between Seller, the Company, Buyer, or any of their Affiliates with Governmental Authorities in the ordinary course of business, (ii) any disclosure which is not permitted by Law or (iii) any disclosure containing confidential information) shall be disclosed to the other party hereunder in

advance of any filing, submission or attendance, it being the intent that the parties will consult and cooperate with one another, and consider in good faith the views of one another, in connection with any such analyses, appearances, meetings, discussions, presentations, memoranda, briefs, filings, arguments, and proposals. Each party shall give notice to the other party with respect to any such meeting, discussion, appearance or contact with any Governmental Authority or the staff or regulators of any Governmental Authority, with such notice being sufficient to provide the other party with the opportunity to attend and participate in such meeting, discussion, appearance or contact.

(f) Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this Section 5.08 shall require, or be construed to require, either Seller or Buyer, or any of their Affiliates, to agree to (i) sell, hold, divest, discontinue or limit, before, on, or after the Closing Date, any assets, businesses or interests of such Person; (ii) any conditions relating to, or changes or restrictions in, the operations of any such assets, businesses or interests which, in either case, could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect or materially and adversely impact the economic or business benefits to Buyer of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; or (iii) any material modification or waiver of the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

Section 5.09 Books and Records.

- (a) In order to facilitate the resolution of any claims made against or incurred by Seller prior to the Closing, or for any other reasonable purpose, for a period of seven years after the Closing, Buyer shall:
 - (i) retain the books and records (including personnel files) of the Company relating to periods prior to the Closing in a manner reasonably consistent with the prior practices of the Company; and
 - (ii) upon reasonable notice, afford the Representatives of Seller reasonable access (including the right to make, at Seller's expense, photocopies), during normal business hours, to such books and records;
- provided, however, that any books and records related to Tax matters shall be retained pursuant to the periods set forth in ARTICLE VI.
- (b) In order to facilitate the resolution of any claims made by or against or incurred by Buyer or the Company after the Closing, or for any other reasonable purpose, for a period of seven years following the Closing, Seller shall:
 - (i) retain the books and records (including personnel files) of Seller which relate to the Company and its operations for periods prior to the Closing; and
 - (ii) upon reasonable notice, afford the Representatives of Buyer or the Company reasonable access (including the right to make, at Buyer's expense, photocopies), during normal business hours, to such books and records;

provided, however, that any books and records related to Tax matters shall be retained pursuant to the periods set forth in ARTICLE

VI.

(c) Neither Buyer nor Seller shall be obligated to provide the other party with access to any books or records (including personnel files) pursuant to this Section 5.09 where such access would violate any Law.

Section 5.10 Closing Conditions From the date hereof until the Closing, each party hereto shall, and Seller shall cause the Company to, use reasonable best efforts to take such actions as are necessary to expeditiously satisfy the closing conditions set forth in ARTICLE VII hereof.

Section 5.11 Public Announcements. Unless otherwise required by applicable Law or stock exchange requirements (based upon the reasonable advice of counsel), no party to this Agreement shall make any public announcements in respect of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby or otherwise communicate with any news media without the prior written consent of the other party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), and the parties shall reasonably cooperate as to the timing and contents of any such announcement.

Section 5.12 Certain Employment and Benefits Matters.

- (a) As soon as practical following the execution of this Agreement but not later than five (5) Business Days after the public announcement of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, Seller shall, and shall cause its Affiliates to, facilitate Buyer meeting with each non-union employee of the Company (which may include allowing Representatives of Buyer to be on-site at the Company to do so).
- (b) Seller shall be solely responsible, and the Buyer shall have no obligations whatsoever, for any compensation or other amounts payable to any current or former employee, officer, director, independent contractor or consultant of Seller, the Company, or any of their Affiliates (including, without limitation, wages, hourly pay, commissions, bonuses, fees, salary, overtime, accrued vacation pay, sick pay, public holiday pay, fringe, pension or profit sharing benefits, termination pay, severance pay, pay-in-lieu-of-notice, and any other compensation as well as any fines or penalties for failure to pay any of the foregoing) or other sums due to the Seller's, the Company's or any of their Affiliates' current or former employees, independent contractors or consultants for any period relating to the service with the Seller, the Company, or any of their Affiliates at any time on or before the Closing Date, and Seller shall pay all such amounts to all entitled Persons on or before the Closing Date or, if not paid before the Closing Date, promptly following the Closing Date. Seller shall reimburse the Company, within 30 days following Seller's receipt of an invoice therefore, for any compensation or other accrued severance benefits payable to any Company Employee resulting from a termination of employment occurring between the Closing Date and the first anniversary of the Closing Date. For the avoidance of doubt, except as expressly provided in the foregoing sentence, Buyer or the Company shall be solely responsible for, and Seller shall have no obligations whatsoever, for any compensation or other amounts payable to any employee,

officer, director, independent contractor or consultant of the Company attributable to the period of time after the Closing Date. Upon Buyer's or Seller's request (as applicable), the other party shall provide reasonable evidence of payments to, or releases obtained from, any of the Persons described in this Section 5.12(b).

Section 5.13 Certain Regulatory Matters.

- (a) The Seller shall cause the Company to (i) obtain Buyer's prior written approval (which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed) prior to initiating any general rate case and (ii) discuss with Buyer as soon as possible any material change or potential material change in the Company's (x) regulated base rates or charges or the basis for determining the same, (y) terms or conditions of rendering service or (z) accounting or regulatory policies or practices (other than the Company's near-term change in its practice of applying overheads, of which Buyer is aware), and shall consult with Buyer no later than ten Business Days before making a filing on any such matter or effecting any agreement, commitment, arrangement or consent, whether written or oral or formal or informal, with respect thereto; provided, the foregoing shall not limit Seller's ability to make routine filings and compliance filings, in each case to the extent consistent with prior filings, with the MPUC in the ordinary course of business, which, for the avoidance of doubt, does not include the types of filings referenced in the foregoing subsections (x) or (y).
- (b) The Company will not amend or modify its Hedging Guidelines in a manner that results in such Hedging Guidelines being less restrictive than the Hedging Guidelines in effect on the date of this Agreement, so long as the MPUC continues to approve the Hedging Guidelines as written; provided, however, the foregoing shall not limit Seller in amending or modifying its Hedging Guidelines with respect to it or its other Affiliates

Section 5.14 Transition Planning. Promptly following the date of execution of this Agreement and subject to applicable Laws, the Seller shall, and shall cause their Affiliates, including the Company, to cooperate with Buyer in planning for transition of the business of the Company (including data, systems, operation and administration) to Buyer as of the Closing Date. In order to facilitate this process, as promptly as practicable after the date hereof, each of Buyer and Seller shall designate an individual to serve as their transition coordinator (each a "Transition Coordinator") who shall meet on a regular basis to review current procedures applicable to performing the following business cycles for the Company: corporate governance; regulatory; treasury; corporate accounting; accounts payable & purchasing; taxes; payroll; customer service; benefits and human resources; revenues and receivables; construction; utility operations; and information systems. The Transition Coordinators shall also use reasonable best efforts to (i) develop a transition services plan to provide for the processing of all regular business transactions, assist in the migration of files and data, and continue the provision of gas purchasing and management and system dispatch for a period not to exceed twelve (12) months after closing and (ii) recommend, subject to approval of each of Seller and Buyer, the specific scope of the services to be provided by Seller pursuant to the Transition Services Agreement, which scope shall be documented in the schedules, exhibits, and other attachments to such agreement on or before the Closing Date.

Section 5.15 Insurance. Seller covenants and agrees to maintain, or cause to be maintained, in full force and effect each of the liability Insurance Policies for a minimum of one (1) year after Closing, with coverage at least as comprehensive as in effect as of the date of this Agreement, for the benefit of the Company.

Section 5.16 Company Shared IT Systems. As may be specified pursuant to mutually agreeable terms and processes in the Transition Services Agreement, after the Closing, Seller shall, and shall cause its Affiliates to, transfer all Company data from the Company Shared IT Systems to the Company in a customary and usable form that can readily be used by the Company and Buyer (such as CSV or other common forms). Following the Closing, Seller shall, and shall cause its Affiliate to, take such further actions as may be reasonably required to ensure that the Company and the Buyer are able to use such Company data. All costs and expenses related to the transfer of Company data and any conversion thereof which may be necessary shall be borne equally by Buyer and Seller.

Section 5.17 Financing. Prior to the Closing, Seller shall, shall cause its Affiliates to, and shall cause its and their Representatives to, provide all cooperation reasonably requested by Buyer in connection with the arrangement of any Debt Financing of the Company, including (i) causing senior management of the Company to assist in preparation for and participate in a reasonable number of investor and lender meetings in connection with such Debt Financing, (ii) providing assistance with the preparation by Buyer of offering documents, private placement memoranda, lender and investor presentations and other marketing documents required in connection with such Debt Financing, (iii) causing the Company to execute and deliver definitive financing documents in connection with such Debt Financing, to be effective on or after the Closing, (iv) providing all documentation and other information about the Company as is requested under applicable "know your customer" and anti-money laundering rules and regulations and providing certifications regarding beneficial ownership, (v) taking all corporate actions to permit the consummation of such Debt Financing, (vi) cooperating in satisfying the conditions precedent to the funding of such Debt Financing and (vii) furnishing Buyer with any other financial and other pertinent information regarding the Company as may be reasonably requested by Buyer in connection with the arrangement and marketing of such Debt Financing; it being understood that Seller and the Company shall have satisfied their obligations set forth in clauses (i) through (vii) of this sentence if the Company shall have used its reasonable best efforts to comply with such obligations whether or not any applicable deliverables are actually obtained or provided.

Section 5.18 Certain Contracts, etc. Prior to or simultaneously with the Closing, Seller shall, and shall cause its Affiliates to, (a) terminate or cause the Company to cease to be a party to and to cease to have any obligations with respect to any Indebtedness (including under the notes listed in Section 3.09(a)(vii) of the Disclosure Schedules), (b) amend the Tax Sharing Agreement referenced in Section 3.09(a)(xi) and Section 3.24 of the Disclosure Schedules to remove any further tax sharing with the Company after the Closing, and (c) ensure that the Company has possession of all credentials relating to social media accounts listed in Section 3.12(h) of the Disclosure Schedules.

Section 5.19 Permits. Prior to or simultaneously with the Closing, Seller shall provide to Buyer an updated list of then-current Permits issued to the Company, including the names or types of the Permits and their respective month and year of expiration.

Section 5.20 Further Assurances. Following the Closing, each of the parties hereto shall, and shall cause their respective Affiliates to, execute and deliver such additional documents, instruments, conveyances and assurances and take such further actions as may be reasonably required to carry out the provisions hereof and give effect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

ARTICLE VI TAX MATTERS

Section 6.01 Tax Covenants.

- (a) Without the prior written consent of Buyer, Seller shall not (and, prior to the Closing, Seller shall cause the Company, its Affiliates and their respective Representatives not to), to the extent it may affect, or relate to, the Company, make, change or rescind any Tax election, amend any Tax Return or take any position on any Tax Return, take any action, omit to take any action or enter into any other transaction that would have the effect of increasing the Tax liability or reducing any Tax asset of Buyer or the Company in respect of any Post-Closing Tax Period.
- (b) All transfer, documentary, sales, use, stamp, registration, value added and other such Taxes and fees (including any penalties and interest) incurred in connection with this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents (including any real property transfer Tax and any other similar Tax) shall be borne equally by Buyer and Seller. Seller shall, at Seller's expense, prepare or cause to be prepared and timely file any Tax Return related to or reporting such Taxes and fees (and Buyer shall cooperate with respect thereto as necessary).
- (c) Seller will prepare or cause to be prepared, and file or cause to be filed, all consolidated or combined income Tax Returns that become due after the Closing and are required to be filed by or on behalf of the Company for any taxable period ending on or before the Closing Date. Any such Tax Return shall be prepared in a manner consistent with past practice (unless otherwise required by Law) and without a change of any election or any accounting method (unless otherwise required by law) and the pro forma Tax Returns of the same shall be submitted by Seller to Buyer (together with schedules, statements and, to the extent requested by Seller, supporting documentation) at least 45 days prior to the due date (including extensions) of such Tax Return. If Buyer objects to any item on any such Tax Return, it shall, within ten days after delivery of such Tax Return, notify Seller in writing that it so objects, specifying with particularity any such item and stating the specific factual or legal basis for any such objection.

- (d) Buyer shall prepare, or cause to be prepared, all other Tax Returns required to be filed by the Company after the Closing Date with respect to a Pre-Closing Tax Period. Any such Tax Return for a taxable period ending on or before the Closing Date shall be prepared in a manner consistent with past practice (unless otherwise required by Law) and without a change of any election or any accounting method (unless otherwise required by law) and shall be submitted by Buyer to Seller (together with schedules, statements and, to the extent requested by Seller, supporting documentation) at least 45 days prior to the due date (including extensions) of such Tax Return. If Seller objects to any item on any such Tax Return, it shall, within ten days after delivery of such Tax Return, notify Buyer in writing that it so objects, specifying with particularity any such item and stating the specific factual or legal basis for any such objection.
- (e) If a notice of objection shall be duly delivered pursuant to Section 6.01(c) or Section 6.01(d), Buyer and Seller shall negotiate in good faith and use their reasonable best efforts to resolve such items. If Buyer and Seller are unable to reach such agreement within ten days after receipt by the relevant party of such notice, the disputed items shall be resolved by the Independent Accountant and any determination by the Independent Accountant shall be final. The Independent Accountant shall resolve any disputed items within 20 days of having the item referred to it pursuant to such procedures as it may require. If the Independent Accountant is unable to resolve any disputed items before the due date for such Tax Return, the Tax Return shall be filed as prepared by the relevant party and then amended to reflect the Independent Accountant's resolution. The costs, fees and expenses of the Independent Accountant shall be borne equally by Buyer and Seller.
- (f) The preparation and filing of any Tax Return of the Company that does not relate to a Pre-Closing Tax Period shall be exclusively within the control of Buyer.

Section 6.02 Termination of Existing Tax Sharing Agreements. Seller shall terminate or cause to be terminated any and all existing Tax sharing agreements (whether written or not) binding upon the Company as of the Closing Date. After Closing, none of the Company, Seller nor any of Seller's Affiliates and their respective Representatives shall have any further rights or liabilities thereunder.

Section 6.03 Tax Indemnification. Except to the extent treated as a liability in the calculation of Closing Working Capital, from and after Closing, Seller shall indemnify the Company, Buyer, and each Buyer Indemnitee and hold them harmless from and against (a) any Loss attributable to any breach of or inaccuracy in any representation or warranty made in Section 3.22; (b) any Loss attributable to any breach or violation of, or failure to fully perform, any covenant, agreement, undertaking or obligation in ARTICLE VI; (c) all Taxes of the Company or relating to the business of the Company for all Pre-Closing Tax Periods ("Pre-Closing Taxes"); (d) all Taxes of any member of an affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary group of which the Company (or any predecessor of the Company) is or was a member on or prior to the Closing Date by reason of a liability under Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6 or any comparable provisions of foreign, state or local Law; and (e) any and all Taxes of any person imposed on the Company arising under the principles of transferee or successor liability or by contract, relating to an event or transaction occurring on or before the Closing Date. In each of the above cases, together with any out-of-pocket fees and expenses (including attorneys' and accountants' fees) incurred in connection therewith, Seller shall reimburse Buyer for any Taxes of the Company that are the responsibility of Seller pursuant to this Section 6.03 within ten Business Days after payment of such Taxes or incurrence of any Losses by Buyer or the Company.

Section 6.04 Straddle Period. In the case of Taxes that are payable with respect to a taxable period that begins on or before and ends after the Closing Date (each such period, a "**Straddle Period**"), the portion of any such Taxes that are treated as Pre-Closing Taxes for purposes of this Agreement shall be:

- (a) in the case of Taxes (i) based upon, or related to, income, receipts, profits, wages, capital or net worth, (ii) imposed in connection with the sale, transfer or assignment of property, or (iii) required to be withheld, deemed equal to the amount which would be payable if the taxable year ended with and including the Closing Date; and
- (b) in the case of other Taxes, deemed to be the amount of such Taxes for the entire period multiplied by a fraction the numerator of which is the number of days in the period ending on and including the Closing Date and the denominator of which is the number of days in the entire period.

Section 6.05 Section 338(h)(10) Election.

- (a) Election. The Company and Seller shall, if directed by Buyer, join with Buyer in making a timely election under Section 338(h)(10) of the Code (and any corresponding election under state, local, and foreign Law) with respect to the purchase and sale of the Shares of the Company hereunder (collectively, a "Section 338(h)(10) Election"). Seller and Buyer acknowledge that for federal income tax purposes (and for state income tax purposes in those states whose income tax provision follow the federal income tax treatment), the sale of the Shares combined with the Section 338(h)(10) Election will be treated as a sale of assets by the Company to a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Buyer followed by a complete liquidation of the Company into Seller. Seller and Buyer will report (and will cause their respective Affiliates to report) any transactions that occur under this Agreement consistent with the Section 338(h)(10) Election and will take no position (no allow their respective Affiliates to take a position) contrary thereto or inconsistent therewith unless required to do so by applicable Tax Laws. Seller shall pay any Tax attributable to the making of the Section 338(h)(10) Election and Seller shall indemnify Buyer and the Company against any adverse consequences arising out of any failure to pay any such Taxes.
- (b) For purposes of making the Section 338(h)(10) Election for federal income tax purposes, on the Closing Date, Seller and Buyer will each deliver to the other an executed IRS Form 8023 (or successor form). In addition, Seller and Buyer will each provide to the other all necessary information to permit the Section 338(h)(10) Election to be made.

(c) Allocation of Purchase Price. If a Section 338(h)(10) Election is made, Seller and Buyer agree that the Purchase Price and the Liabilities of the Company (plus other relevant items) shall be allocated among the assets of the Company for Tax purposes as shown on the allocation schedule (the "Allocation Schedule") prepared in accordance with the methodology set forth in Exhibit B. A draft of the Allocation Schedule, including IRS Forms 8883 and 8594, shall be prepared by Buyer and delivered to Seller within 30 days following the date on which the Closing Statements becomes binding for Seller's approval. Seller and Buyer agree that the Purchase Price and the Liabilities of the Company (plus other relevant items) will be allocated among the assets of the Company for tax purposes as follows: All amounts constituting consideration within the meaning of, and for the purposes of, Section 1060 of the Code and the regulations thereunder will be allocated among the assets of the Company in the manner required by Section 1060 of the Code and the regulations thereunder and all applicable Laws. Buyer and Seller will mutually agree on the items set forth on the Allocation Schedules. Buyer and Seller agree to use the Allocation Schedules for tax reporting purposes. If Seller notifies Buyer in writing within 30 days after Seller's receipt of Buyer's draft Allocation Schedule that Seller objects to one or more items reflected in the Allocation Schedule, Seller and Buyer shall negotiate in good faith to resolve such dispute; provided, however, that if Seller and Buyer are unable to resolve any dispute with respect to the Allocation Schedule within 30 days following the Seller's notification of objections, such dispute shall be resolved by the Independent Accountant. The fees and expenses of such accounting firm shall be borne equally by Seller and Buyer, For all tax purposes, Buyer, the Company and Seller shall file all Tax Returns (including, without limitation, IRS Forms 8023, 8883, 8594 (and all supplements thereto), amended returns and claims for refund) and information reports in a manner consistent with the Allocation Schedule as finally agreed to by Buyer and Seller or, with respect to matters in dispute, as finally resolved by the Independent Accountant. Any adjustments to the Purchase Price pursuant to Section 2.04 herein shall be allocated in a manner consistent with the Allocation Schedule. The parties hereto will revise the Allocation Schedule to the extent necessary to reflect any Post-Closing Adjustments or other adjustments to Purchase Price made pursuant to or in connection with this Agreement. In the case of any such payments, Buyer will propose a revised Allocation Schedule, and the parties hereto will follow the procedure outlined above with respect to review, dispute, and resolution with respect to any such revisions. In the event the Allocation Schedule, including any and all disputes thereto, has not been finally agreed upon by the parties by the time that Tax Returns or information reports are due (taking into account any extensions), Buyer, the Company, and Seller shall file all such Tax Returns and information reports consistent with Buyer's proposed Allocation Schedule. To the extent the Allocation Schedule as finally agreed upon by the parties is different than Buyer's proposed Allocation Schedule, Buyer, the Company, and Seller shall amend and/or supplement such tax returns and information reports to reflect any such differences and make each of their tax reporting consistent with the Allocation Schedule as finally agreed upon by the parties or as finally resolved by the Independent Accountant as soon as reasonably practicable.

Section 6.06 Contests. Buyer agrees to give written notice to Seller of the receipt of any written notice by the Company, Buyer or any of Buyer's Affiliates which involves the assertion of any claim, or the commencement of any Action, in respect of which an indemnity may be sought by Buyer pursuant to this ARTICLE VI (a "Tax Claim"); provided, that failure to comply with this provision shall not affect Buyer's right to indemnification hereunder, except

and only to the extent that any rights or defenses are forfeited by Seller or Buyer by reason of such failure. Seller shall control the contest or resolution of any Tax Claim related to or solely arising out of a consolidated or combined income Tax Returns that for any taxable period ending on or before the Closing Date; *provided, however*, that Seller shall obtain the prior written consent of Buyer (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed) before entering into any settlement of a claim or ceasing to defend such claim; and, *provided further*, that Buyer shall be entitled to participate in the defense of such claim and to employ counsel of its choice for such purpose, the fees and expenses of which separate counsel shall be borne solely by Buyer. Buyer shall control all other Tax Claims.

Section 6.07 Cooperation and Exchange of Information. Seller and Buyer shall provide each other with such cooperation and information as either of them reasonably may request of the other in filing any Tax Return pursuant to this ARTICLE VI or in connection with any audit or other proceeding in respect of Taxes of the Company. Such cooperation and information shall include providing copies of relevant Tax Returns or portions thereof, together with accompanying schedules, related work papers and documents relating to rulings or other determinations by tax authorities. Each of Seller and Buyer shall retain all Tax Returns, schedules and work papers, records and other documents in its possession relating to Tax matters of the Company for a period of seven years after the Closing Date. In the event Seller or Buyer (as the case may be) wish to take custody of the other party's Tax Returns, schedules and work papers, records and other documents in its possession related to Tax matters of the Company for any Pre-Closing Tax Period, such party (as the case may be) shall provide the other party with reasonable written notice of such request no sooner than sixty (60) days nor later than ten (10) days prior to expiration of the retention period set forth above, *provided that*, prior to transferring, destroying or discarding any such documentation earlier than seven years after the Closing, the party with custody of such information shall provide the other party with no less than thirty (30) days written notice of the intent to transfer, destroy or discard such documentation.

Section 6.08 Tax Treatment of Indemnification Payments. Any indemnification payments pursuant to this ARTICLE VI shall be treated as an adjustment to the Purchase Price by the parties for Tax purposes, unless otherwise required by Law.

Section 6.09 Payments to Buyer. Any amounts payable to Buyer pursuant to this ARTICLE VI shall be satisfied from Seller.

Section 6.10 Survival. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the provisions of Section 3.22 and this ARTICLE VI shall survive for the full period of all applicable statutes of limitations (giving effect to any waiver, mitigation or extension thereof) plus 60 days or, with respect to covenants or other agreements, until performed.

Section 6.11 Overlap. To the extent that any obligation or responsibility pursuant to ARTICLE VIII may overlap with an obligation or responsibility pursuant to this ARTICLE VI, the provisions of this ARTICLE VI shall govern.

ARTICLE VII CONDITIONS TO CLOSING

Section 7.01 Conditions to Obligations of All Parties. The obligations of each party to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be subject to the fulfillment or such party's waiver, at or prior to the Closing, of each of the following conditions:

- (a) The filings of Buyer and Seller pursuant to the HSR Act, if any, shall have been made and the applicable waiting period and any extensions thereof shall have expired or been terminated.
- (b) No Governmental Authority shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any Governmental Order which is in effect and has the effect of making the transactions contemplated by this Agreement illegal, otherwise restraining or prohibiting consummation of such transactions or causing any of the transactions contemplated hereunder to be rescinded following completion thereof.
- (c) Seller shall have received all consents, authorizations, orders and approvals from the Persons referred to in Section 3.05 and Buyer shall have received all consents, authorizations, orders and approvals from the Persons referred to in Section 4.02, in each case, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Buyer, and no such consent, authorization, order and approval shall have been revoked.

Section 7.02 Conditions to Obligations of Buyer. The obligations of Buyer to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be subject to the fulfillment or Buyer's waiver, at or prior to the Closing, of each of the following conditions:

- (a) Other than the representations and warranties of Seller contained in Section 3.01, Section 3.02, Section 3.03, Section 3.04, Section 3.05 and Section 3.25, the representations and warranties of Seller contained in this Agreement, the Ancillary Documents and any certificate or other writing delivered pursuant hereto shall be true and correct in all material respects (without giving effect to any limitation indicated by the words "Material Adverse Effect," "in all material respects," "in any material respect," "material," or "materially") on and as of the date hereof and on and as of the Closing Date with the same effect as though made at and as of such date (except those representations and warranties of Seller contained in Section 3.01, Section 3.02, Section 3.03, Section 3.04, Section 3.05 and Section 3.25 shall be true and correct in all respects on and as of the date hereof and on and as of the Closing Date with the same effect as though made at and as of such date (except those representations and warranties that address matters only as of a specified date, the accuracy of which shall be determined as of that specified date in all respects).
- (b) Seller shall have duly performed and complied in all material respects with all agreements, covenants and conditions required by this Agreement and each of the Ancillary Documents to be performed or complied with by it prior to or on the Closing Date; *provided*, *that*, with respect to agreements, covenants and conditions that are qualified by materiality, Seller shall have performed such agreements, covenants and conditions, as so qualified, in all respects.

- (c) No Action shall have been commenced against Buyer, Seller or the Company, which would prevent the Closing. No injunction or restraining order shall have been issued by any Governmental Authority, and be in effect, which restrains or prohibits any transaction contemplated hereby.
- (d) All consents, authorizations, orders, approvals, or waivers that are listed on Section 3.05 of the Disclosure Schedules shall have been received, in each case, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Buyer, and no such consent, authorization, order, approval or waiver shall have been revoked, and executed counterparts thereof shall have been delivered to Buyer at or prior to the Closing.
- (e) The MPUC Order shall have been received, copies of the MPUC Order shall have been delivered to Buyer at or prior to the Closing, the MPUC Order shall not have been revoked, reversed, stayed, enjoined, set aside, annulled or suspended, the MPUC Order shall be final and non-appealable, any waiting period prescribed by the MPUC Order or by law with respect to the MPUC Order shall have expired, and any conditions prescribed by the MPUC Order or by law with respect to the MPUC Order shall have been satisfied.
- (f) From the date of this Agreement, there shall not have occurred any change in Law that could reasonably be expected to adversely impact use or growth in use of natural gas in the Territory.
- (g) From the date of this Agreement, there shall not have occurred any Material Adverse Effect, nor shall any event or events have occurred that, individually or in the aggregate, with or without the lapse of time, could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
- (h) The Ancillary Documents shall have been executed and delivered by the parties thereto and true and complete copies thereof shall have been delivered to Buyer.
 - (i) Buyer shall have received resignations of the directors and officers of the Company pursuant to Section 5.05.
- (j) At least five Business Days before Closing, Seller shall have delivered to Buyer the Estimated Closing Statement and the Closing Transaction Expenses Certificate, including all related documentation described in Section 2.04(a)(ii).
- (k) As of the Closing, Seller shall have delivered to Buyer the Closing Indebtedness Certificate, which shall reflect that the Company has no Indebtedness as of the Closing.
 - (1) Seller shall have delivered to Buyer the Estimated Closing Statement contemplated in Section 2.04(a)(ii).
- (m) Seller shall have delivered to Buyer a good standing certificate (or its equivalent) for the Company from the secretary of state or similar Governmental Authority of the jurisdiction under the Laws in which the Company is organized.

- (n) Seller shall have delivered to Buyer a valid and complete IRS Form W-9 for Seller and Buyer and, if required, a certificate pursuant to Treasury Regulations Section 1.1445-2(b) that Seller is not a foreign person within the meaning of Section 1445 of the Code.
- (o) Seller shall have delivered to Buyer a valid and complete, executed IRS Form 8023 (or successor form) as contemplated in Section 6.05(b).
- (p) Seller shall have delivered, or caused to be delivered, to Buyer stock certificates evidencing the Shares, free and clear of Encumbrances, duly endorsed in blank or accompanied by stock powers or other instruments of transfer duly executed in blank and with all required stock transfer tax stamps affixed.
- (q) Buyer shall have received a certificate, dated the Closing Date and signed by a duly authorized officer of Seller, that each of the conditions set forth in Section 7.02(a), Section 7.02(b), Section 7.02(c) (with respect to Seller and the Company only) and, to Seller's Knowledge, Section 7.02(g) have been satisfied.
- (r) Buyer shall have received a certificate of the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary (or equivalent officer) of Seller certifying that attached thereto are true and complete copies of all resolutions adopted by the board of directors of Seller authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents to which it is a party and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and that all such resolutions are in full force and effect and are all the resolutions adopted in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby and thereby.
- (s) Buyer shall have received a certificate of the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary (or equivalent officer) of Seller certifying the names and signatures of the officers of Seller authorized to sign this Agreement, the Ancillary Documents and the other documents to be delivered hereunder and thereunder.
- (t) Seller shall have delivered to Buyer such other documents or instruments as Buyer reasonably requests and are reasonably necessary to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- **Section 7.03 Conditions to Obligations of Seller.** The obligations of Seller to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be subject to the fulfillment or Seller's waiver, at or prior to the Closing, of each of the following conditions:
 - (a) Other than the representations and warranties of Buyer contained in Section 4.01, Section 4.02 and Section 4.04, the representations and warranties of Buyer contained in this Agreement, the Ancillary Documents and any certificate or other writing delivered pursuant hereto shall be true and correct in all respects (in the case of any representation or warranty qualified by materiality or Material Adverse Effect) or in all material respects (in the case of any representation or warranty not qualified by materiality or material adverse effect) on and as of the date hereof and on and as of the Closing Date with the same effect as though made at and as of such date (except those representations and warranties that address matters only as of a specified date,

the accuracy of which shall be determined as of that specified date in all respects). The representations and warranties of Buyer contained in Section 4.01, Section 4.02 and Section 4.04 shall be true and correct in all respects on and as of the date hereof and on and as of the Closing Date with the same effect as though made at and as of such date (except those representations and warranties that address matters only as of a specified date, the accuracy of which shall be determined as of that specified date in all respects).

- (b) Buyer shall have duly performed and complied in all material respects with all agreements, covenants and conditions required by this Agreement and each of the Ancillary Documents to be performed or complied with by it prior to or on the Closing Date; *provided, that*, with respect to agreements, covenants and conditions that are qualified by materiality, Buyer shall have performed such agreements, covenants and conditions, as so qualified, in all respects.
- (c) No Action shall have been commenced against Buyer, Seller or the Company, which would prevent the Closing. No injunction or restraining order shall have been issued by any Governmental Authority, and be in effect, which restrains or prohibits any material transaction contemplated hereby.
- (d) All consents, authorizations, orders, approvals, or waivers that are listed on Section 4.02 of the Disclosure Schedules shall have been received, in each case, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Seller, and no such consent, authorization, order, approval or waiver shall have been revoked, and executed counterparts thereof shall have been delivered to Seller at or prior to the Closing.
- (e) The MPUC Transaction Approval Order shall have been received, copies of the MPUC Transaction Approval Order shall have been delivered to Seller at or prior to the Closing, the MPUC Transaction Approval Order shall not have been revoked, reversed, stayed, enjoined, set aside, annulled or suspended, the MPUC Transaction Approval Order shall be final and non-appealable, any waiting period prescribed by the MPUC Transaction Approval Order or by law with respect to the MPUC Transaction Approval Order shall have expired, and any conditions prescribed by the MPUC Transaction Approval Order or by law with respect to the MPUC Transaction Approval Order shall have been satisfied.
- (f) The Ancillary Documents shall have been executed and delivered by the parties thereto and complete copies thereof shall have been delivered to Seller.
- (g) Buyer shall have delivered to Seller cash in an amount equal to the Estimated Closing Date Payment by wire transfer of immediately available funds, to an account or accounts designated at least five Business Days prior to the Closing Date by Seller in a written notice to Buyer.
- (h) Buyer shall have delivered to third parties by wire transfer of immediately available fund that amount of money due and owing from Seller to such third parties as Transaction Expenses as set forth on the Closing Transaction Expenses Certificate.

- (i) Seller shall have received a certificate, dated the Closing Date and signed by a duly authorized officer of Buyer, that each of the conditions set forth in Section 7.03(a), Section 7.03(b), and Section 7.03(c) (with respect to Buyer only) have been satisfied.
- (j) Seller shall have received a certificate of the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary (or equivalent officer) of Buyer certifying that attached thereto are true and complete copies of all resolutions adopted by the board of directors of Buyer authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents to which it is a party and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and that all such resolutions are in full force and effect and are all the resolutions adopted in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.
- (k) Seller shall have received a certificate of the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary (or equivalent officer) of Buyer certifying the names and signatures of the officers of Buyer authorized to sign this Agreement, the Ancillary Documents and the other documents to be delivered hereunder and thereunder.
- (1) Buyer shall have delivered to Seller a valid and complete, executed IRS Form 8023 (or successor form) as contemplated in Section 6.05(b).
- (m) Buyer shall have delivered to Seller such other documents or instruments as Seller reasonably requests and are reasonably necessary to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

ARTICLE VIII INDEMNIFICATION

Section 8.01 Survival. Subject to the limitations and other provisions of this Agreement, the representations and warranties contained herein (other than any representations or warranties contained in Section 3.22 which are subject to ARTICLE VI) shall survive the Closing and shall remain in full force and effect until the date that is 18 months from the Closing Date; *provided, that* the representations and warranties in Section 3.01, Section 3.02, Section 3.03, Section 3.04, Section 3.05(a) and (b), Section 3.25, Section 4.01, Section 4.02(a) and (b), and Section 4.04 shall survive indefinitely. All covenants and agreements of the parties contained herein (other than any covenants or agreements contained in ARTICLE VI which are subject to ARTICLE VI) shall survive the Closing indefinitely or for the period explicitly specified therein. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any claims asserted in good faith with reasonable specificity (to the extent known at such time) and in writing by notice from the non-breaching party to the breaching party prior to the expiration date of the applicable survival period shall not thereafter be barred by the expiration of the relevant representation or warranty and such claims shall survive until finally resolved.

Section 8.02 Indemnification By Parent. Subject to the other terms and conditions of this ARTICLE VIII, from and after Closing, Parent shall indemnify and defend each of Buyer and its Affiliates (including the Company) and their respective Representatives (collectively, the "Buyer Indemnitees") against, and shall hold each of them harmless from and against, and shall pay and reimburse each of them for, any and all Losses incurred or sustained by, or imposed upon, the Buyer Indemnitees based upon, arising out of, with respect to or by reason of, directly or indirectly:

- (a) any inaccuracy in or breach of any of the representations or warranties of Seller or Parent contained in this Agreement, in any Ancillary Document, or in any certificate or instrument delivered by or on behalf of Seller pursuant to this Agreement or any Ancillary Document (other than in respect of Section 3.22, it being understood that the sole remedy for any such inaccuracy in or breach thereof shall be pursuant to ARTICLE VI), as of the date such representation or warranty was made or as if such representation or warranty was made on and as of the Closing Date (except for representations and warranties that expressly relate to a specified date, the inaccuracy in or breach of which will be determined with reference to such specified date);
- (b) any breach or non-fulfillment of any covenant, agreement or obligation to be performed by Seller pursuant to this Agreement (other than any breach or non-fulfillment of any covenant, agreement or obligation in ARTICLE VI, it being understood that the sole remedy for any such breach or non-fulfillment shall be pursuant to ARTICLE VI); or
- (c) any Transaction Expenses or Indebtedness of the Company outstanding as of the Closing to the extent not deducted from the Purchase Price in the determination of the Closing Date Payment.
- Section 8.03 Indemnification By Buyer. Subject to the other terms and conditions of this ARTICLE VIII, from and after Closing, Buyer shall indemnify and defend each of Seller and its Affiliates and their respective Representatives (collectively, the "Seller Indemnitees") against, and shall hold each of them harmless from and against, and shall pay and reimburse each of them for, any and all Losses incurred or sustained by, or imposed upon, the Seller Indemnitees based upon, arising out of, with respect to or by reason of, directly or indirectly:
 - (a) any inaccuracy in or breach of any of the representations or warranties of Buyer contained in this Agreement, any Ancillary Document, or in any certificate or instrument delivered by or on behalf of Buyer pursuant to this Agreement or any Ancillary Document, as of the date such representation or warranty was made or as if such representation or warranty was made on and as of the Closing Date (except for representations and warranties that expressly relate to a specified date, the inaccuracy in or breach of which will be determined with reference to such specified date); or
 - (b) any breach or non-fulfillment of any covenant, agreement or obligation to be performed by Buyer pursuant to this Agreement (other than any breach or non-fulfillments of any covenant, agreement or obligation in ARTICLE VI, it being understood that the sole remedy for any such breach or non-fulfillment thereof shall be pursuant to ARTICLE VI).

Section 8.04 Certain Limitations. The indemnification provided for in Section 8.02 and Section 8.03 shall be subject to the following limitations:

- (a) Parent shall not be liable to the Buyer Indemnities for indemnification under Section 8.02(a) (i) in respect of any individual claim or series of claims having the same or substantially similar nature or origin or arising from the same or substantially similar facts and circumstances, where the aggregate amount of Losses relating to such claim or series of claims is less than \$10,000 (the "Claim Threshold"), and such claim or series of claims with Losses relating thereto of less than the Claim Threshold will not be aggregated or counted for purposes of clause (ii) of this Section 8.04(a) and (ii) until the aggregate amount of all Losses in respect of indemnification under Section 8.02(a) exceeds \$350,000 (the "Basket"), in which event Parent shall be required to pay or be liable for all such Losses in excess of \$175,000 (the "Deductible"). The aggregate amount of all Losses for which Parent shall be liable pursuant to Section 8.02(a) shall not exceed \$10,000,000 (the "Cap").
- (b) Buyer shall not be liable to the Seller Indemnitees for indemnification under Section 8.03(a) (i) in respect of any individual claim or series of claims having the same or substantially similar nature or origin or arising from the same or substantially similar facts and circumstances, where the aggregate amount of Losses relating to such claim or series of claims is less than the Claim Threshold, and such claim or series of claims with Losses relating thereto of less than the Claim Threshold will not be aggregated or counted for purposes of clause (ii) of this Section 8.04(b) and (ii) until the aggregate amount of all Losses in respect of indemnification under Section 8.03(a) exceeds the Basket, in which event Buyer shall be required to pay or be liable for all such Losses in excess of the Deductible. The aggregate amount of all Losses for which Buyer shall be liable pursuant to Section 8.03(a) shall not exceed the Cap.
- (c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the limitations set forth in Section 8.04(a) and Section 8.04(b) shall not apply to Losses based upon, arising out of, with respect to or by reason of any inaccuracy in or breach of any representation or warranty in Section 3.01, Section 3.02, Section 3.03, Section 3.04, Section 3.05(a) and (b), Section 3.25, Section 4.01, Section 4.02(a) and (b), and Section 4.04.
- (d) For purposes of this ARTICLE VIII (including for purposes of determining the existence of any inaccuracy in, or breach of, any representation or warranty and for calculating the amount of any Loss with respect thereto), any inaccuracy in or breach of any representation or warranty shall be determined without regard to any materiality, Material Adverse Effect or other similar qualification contained in or otherwise applicable to such representation or warranty.
- (e) In no event shall any Indemnifying Party be liable to any Indemnified Party for any punitive damages, except to the extent actually paid or payable by an Indemnified Party to another Person with respect to a Third-Party Claim.

Section 8.05 Indemnification Procedures. The party making a claim under this ARTICLE VIII is referred to as the "Indemnified Party", and the party against whom such claims are asserted under this ARTICLE VIII is referred to as the "Indemnifying Party".

(a) Third-Party Claims. If any Indemnified Party receives notice of the assertion or commencement of any Action made or brought by any Person who is not a party to this Agreement or an Affiliate of a party to this Agreement or a Representative of the foregoing (a "Third-Party Claim") against such Indemnified Party with respect to which the Indemnifying Party is obligated to provide indemnification under this Agreement, the Indemnified Party shall give the Indemnifying Party reasonably prompt written notice thereof, but in any event not later than 30 calendar days after receipt of such notice of such Third-Party Claim. The failure to give such prompt written notice shall not, however, relieve the Indemnifying Party of its indemnification obligations, except and only to the extent that any rights or defenses are forfeited by reason of such failure. Such notice by the Indemnified Party shall describe the Third-Party Claim in reasonable detail, shall include copies of all material written evidence thereof and shall indicate the estimated amount, if reasonably practicable, of the Loss that has been or may be sustained by the Indemnified Party. The Indemnifying Party shall have the right to participate in, or by giving written notice to the Indemnified Party, to assume the defense of any Third-Party Claim at the Indemnifying Party's expense and by the Indemnifying Party's own counsel, and the Indemnified Party shall cooperate in good faith in such defense; provided, that if the Indemnifying Party is Parent, such Indemnifying Party shall not have the right to defend or direct the defense of any such Third-Party Claim that (x) is asserted directly by or on behalf of a Person that is a supplier or customer of the Company, or (y) seeks an injunction or other equitable relief against the Indemnified Party. In the event that the Indemnifying Party assumes the defense of any Third-Party Claim, subject to Section 8.05(b), it shall have the right to take such action as it deems necessary to avoid, dispute, defend, appeal or make counterclaims pertaining to any such Third-Party Claim in the name and on behalf of the Indemnified Party. The Indemnified Party shall have the right to participate in the defense of any Third-Party Claim with counsel selected by it subject to the Indemnifying Party's right to control the defense thereof. The fees and disbursements of such counsel shall be at the expense of the Indemnified Party, provided, that if in the reasonable opinion of counsel to the Indemnified Party, (A) there are legal defenses available to an Indemnified Party that are different from or additional to those available to the Indemnifying Party; or (B) there exists a conflict of interest between the Indemnifying Party and the Indemnified Party that cannot be waived, the Indemnifying Party shall be liable for the reasonable fees and expenses of counsel to the Indemnified Party in each jurisdiction for which the Indemnified Party determines counsel is required. If the Indemnifying Party elects not to compromise or defend such Third-Party Claim, fails to promptly notify the Indemnified Party in writing of its election to defend as provided in this Agreement, or fails to diligently prosecute the defense of such Third-Party Claim, the Indemnified Party may, subject to Section 8.05(b), pay, compromise, or defend such Third-Party Claim and seek indemnification for any and all Losses based upon, arising from or relating to such Third-Party Claim. Seller or Parent, on the one hand, as applicable, and Buyer shall cooperate with each other in all reasonable respects in connection with the defense of any Third-Party Claim, including making available (subject to the provisions of Section 5.06) records relating to such Third-Party Claim and furnishing, without expense (other than reimbursement of actual out-of-pocket expenses) to the defending party, management employees of the non-defending party as may be reasonably necessary for the preparation of the defense of such Third-Party Claim.

- (b) Settlement of Third-Party Claims. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Indemnifying Party shall not enter into settlement of any Third-Party Claim without the prior written consent of the Indemnified Party (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), except as provided in this Section 8.05(b). If a firm offer is made to settle a Third-Party Claim without leading to Liability or the creation of a financial or other obligation on the part of the Indemnified Party and provides, in customary form, for the unconditional release of each Indemnified Party from all Liabilities and obligations in connection with such Third-Party Claim and the Indemnifying Party desires to accept and agree to such offer, the Indemnifying Party shall give written notice to that effect to the Indemnified Party. If the Indemnified Party fails to consent to such firm offer within ten days after its receipt of such notice, the Indemnified Party may continue to contest or defend such Third-Party Claim and in such event, the maximum liability of the Indemnifying Party as to such Third-Party Claim shall not exceed the amount of such settlement offer. If the Indemnified Party fails to consent to such firm offer and also fails to assume defense of such Third-Party Claim, the Indemnifying Party may settle the Third-Party Claim upon the terms set forth in such firm offer to settle such Third-Party Claim. If the Indemnified Party has assumed the defense pursuant to Section 8.05(a), it shall not agree to any settlement without the written consent of the Indemnifying Party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).
- (c) Direct Claims. Any Action by an Indemnified Party on account of a Loss which does not result from a Third-Party Claim (a "Direct Claim") shall be asserted by the Indemnified Party giving the Indemnifying Party reasonably prompt written notice thereof, but in any event not later than 30 days after the Indemnified Party becomes aware of such Direct Claim. The failure to give such prompt written notice shall not, however, relieve the Indemnifying Party of its indemnification obligations, except and only to the extent that any rights or defenses are forfeited by reason of such failure. Such notice by the Indemnified Party shall describe the Direct Claim in reasonable detail, shall include copies of all material written evidence thereof and shall indicate the estimated amount, if reasonably practicable, of the Loss that has been or may be sustained by the Indemnified Party. The Indemnifying Party shall have 30 days after its receipt of such notice to respond in writing to such Direct Claim. The Indemnified Party shall allow the Indemnifying Party and its professional advisors to investigate the matter or circumstance alleged to give rise to the Direct Claim, and whether and to what extent any amount is payable in respect of the Direct Claim and the Indemnified Party shall assist the Indemnifying Party's investigation by giving such information and assistance (including access to the Company's premises and personnel and the right to examine and copy any accounts, documents or records) as the Indemnifying Party or any of its professional advisors may reasonably request. If the Indemnifying Party does not so respond within such 30-day period, the Indemnifying Party shall be deemed to have rejected such claim, in which case the Indemnified Party shall be free to pursue such remedies as may be available to the Indemnified Party on the terms and subject to the provisions of this Agreement.

(d) Tax Claims. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the control of any claim, assertion, event or proceeding in respect of Taxes of the Company (including, but not limited to, any such claim in respect of a breach of the representations and warranties in Section 3.22 hereof or any breach or violation of or failure to fully perform any covenant, agreement, undertaking or obligation in ARTICLE VI) shall be governed exclusively by ARTICLE VI hereof.

Section 8.06 Payments. Once a Loss is agreed to by the Indemnifying Party or finally adjudicated to be payable pursuant to this ARTICLE VIII, the Indemnifying Party shall satisfy its obligations within 45 Business Days of such final, non-appealable adjudication by wire transfer of immediately available funds. The parties hereto agree that should an Indemnifying Party not make full payment of any such obligations within such 45 Business Day period, any amount payable shall accrue interest from and including the date of agreement of the Indemnifying Party or final, non-appealable adjudication to but excluding the date such payment has been made at a rate per annum equal to the "prime rate" then in effect as published in The Wall Street Journal. Such interest shall be calculated daily on the basis of a 365-day year and the actual number of days elapsed.

Section 8.07 Tax Treatment of Indemnification Payments. All indemnification payments made under this Agreement shall be treated by the parties as an adjustment to the Purchase Price for Tax purposes, unless otherwise required by Law.

Section 8.08 Effect of Investigation. The representations, warranties and covenants of the Indemnifying Party, and the Indemnified Party's right to indemnification with respect thereto, shall not be affected or deemed waived by reason of any investigation made by or on behalf of the Indemnified Party (including by any of its Representatives) or by reason of the fact that the Indemnified Party or any of its Representatives knew or should have known that any such representation or warranty is, was or might be inaccurate or by reason of the Indemnified Party's waiver of any condition set forth in Section 7.02 or Section 7.03, as the case may be.

Section 8.09 Exclusive Remedies. Subject to and except for Section 2.04(b) to Section 2.04(d), Section 5.07 and Section 10.11, the parties acknowledge and agree that from and after Closing their sole and exclusive remedy with respect to any and all claims (other than claims arising from fraud or willful misconduct) for any breach of any representation, warranty, covenant, agreement or obligation set forth herein or otherwise relating to the subject matter of this Agreement, shall be pursuant to the indemnification provisions set forth in ARTICLE VI and this ARTICLE VIII. In furtherance of the foregoing, except with respect to Section 2.04(b) to Section 2.04(d), Section 5.07 and Section 10.11, each party hereby waives, from and after Closing, to the fullest extent permitted under Law, any and all rights, claims and causes of action for any breach of any representation, warranty, covenant, agreement or obligation set forth herein or otherwise relating to the subject matter of this Agreement it may have against the other parties hereto and their Affiliates and each of their respective Representatives arising under or based upon any Law, except pursuant to the indemnification provisions set forth in ARTICLE VI and this ARTICLE VIII. Nothing in this Section 8.09 shall limit any Person's right to seek and obtain any equitable relief to which any Person shall be entitled or to seek any remedy on account of fraud or willful misconduct.

ARTICLE IX TERMINATION

Section 9.01 Termination. This Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the Closing:

- (a) by the mutual written consent of Seller and Buyer;
- (b) by Buyer by written notice to Seller if:
- (i) Buyer is not then in material breach of any provision of this Agreement and there has been a breach, inaccuracy in or failure to perform any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement made by Seller pursuant to this Agreement that would give rise to the failure of any of the conditions specified in ARTICLE VII and such breach, inaccuracy or failure has not been cured by Seller within ten days of Seller's receipt of written notice of such breach from Buyer;
- (ii) any of the conditions set forth in Section 7.01 or Section 7.02 shall not have been, or if it becomes apparent that any of such conditions will not be, fulfilled by the Outside Date), unless such failure shall be due to the failure of Buyer to perform or comply with any of the covenants, agreements or conditions hereof to be performed or complied with by it prior to the Closing; or
- (iii) the MPUC Order shall not have been received by the Outside Date, if it becomes apparent that the MPUC Order will not be received by the Outside Date, or if the MPUC Order is revoked, reversed, stayed, enjoined, set aside, annualled or suspended on or before the Outside Date:
- (c) by Seller by written notice to Buyer if:
- (i) Seller is not then in material breach of any provision of this Agreement and there has been a breach, inaccuracy in or failure to perform any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement made by Buyer pursuant to this Agreement that would give rise to the failure of any of the conditions specified in ARTICLE VII and such breach, inaccuracy or failure has not been cured by Buyer within ten days of Buyer's receipt of written notice of such breach from Seller; or
- (ii) any of the conditions set forth in Section 7.01 or Section 7.03 shall not have been, or if it becomes apparent that any of such conditions will not be, fulfilled by the Outside Date, unless such failure shall be due to the failure of Seller to perform or comply with any of the covenants, agreements or conditions hereof to be performed or complied with by it prior to the Closing; or
- (iii) the MPUC Transaction Approval Order shall not have been received by the Outside Date, if it becomes apparent that the MPUC Transaction Approval Order will not be received by the Outside Date, or if the MPUC Transaction Approval Order is revoked, reversed, stayed, enjoined, set aside, annulled or suspended on or before the Outside Date; or

(d) by Buyer or Seller in the event that (i) there shall be any Law that makes consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement illegal or otherwise prohibited or (ii) any Governmental Authority shall have issued a Governmental Order restraining or enjoining the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and such Governmental Order shall have become final and non-appealable.

Section 9.02 Effect of Termination. In the event of the termination of this Agreement in accordance with this Article, this Agreement shall forthwith become void and there shall be no liability on the part of any party hereto except:

- (a) that the obligations set forth in this ARTICLE IX and ARTICLE X hereof shall survive termination; and
- (b) that nothing herein shall relieve any party hereto from liability for any breach of any provision hereof.

ARTICLE X MISCELLANEOUS

Section 10.01 Expenses. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all costs and expenses, including, without limitation, fees and disbursements of counsel, financial advisors and accountants, incurred in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby shall be paid by the party incurring such costs and expenses, whether or not the Closing shall have occurred; *provided, however*, Buyer and Seller shall be equally responsible for all filing and other similar fees payable in connection with any filings or submissions under the HSR Act or the MPUC Order or to The Office of the Public Advocate of the State of Maine.

Section 10.02 Notices. All notices, requests, consents, claims, demands, waivers and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given (a) when delivered by hand (with written confirmation of receipt); (b) when received by the addressee if sent by a nationally recognized overnight courier (receipt requested); (c) on the date sent by e-mail of a PDF document (with confirmation of receipt) if sent during normal business hours of the recipient, and on the next Business Day if sent after normal business hours of the recipient; or (d) on the third day after the date mailed, by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid. Such communications must be sent to the respective parties at the following addresses (or at such other address for a party as shall be specified in a notice given in accordance with this Section 10.02):

If to Seller: PHC Utilities, Inc.

781 Chestnut Ridge Road, Suite 100

Morgantown, WV 26505

E-mail: lynne.c.rhode@hopegas.com Attention: L. Rhode, General Counsel with a copy to: Steptoe & Johnson PLLC

707 Virginia Street East, 17th Floor

Charleston, WV 25301

E-mail: alexandria.lay@steptoe-johnson.com

Attention: Alexandria D. Lay

If to Buyer: Unitil Corporation

6 Liberty Lane West Hampton, NH 03842

E-mail: hurstakd@unitil.com

Attention: Daniel J. Hurstak, Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer & Treasurer

with a copy to: Unitil Corporation

6 Liberty Lane West Hampton, NH 03842 E-mail: whitney@unitil.com

Attention: Sandra L. Whitney, Corporate Secretary

If to Parent: Hearthstone Utilities, Inc., d/b/a Hope Companies, Inc.

781 Chestnut Ridge Road, Suite 100

Morgantown, WV 26505

E-mail: lynne.c.rhode@hopegas.com Attention: L. Rhode, General Counsel

with a copy to: Steptoe & Johnson PLLC

707 Virginia Street East, 17th Floor

Charleston, WV 25301

E-mail: alexandria.lay@steptoe-johnson.com

Attention: Alexandria D. Lay

Section 10.03 Interpretation. For purposes of this Agreement, (a) the words "include," "includes" and "including" shall be deemed to be followed by the words "without limitation"; (b) the word "or" is not exclusive; and (c) the words "herein," "hereof," "hereby," "hereto" and "hereunder" refer to this Agreement as a whole. Unless the context otherwise requires, references herein: (x) to Articles, Sections, Disclosure Schedules and Exhibits mean the Articles and Sections of, and Disclosure Schedules and Exhibits attached to, this Agreement; (y) to an agreement, instrument or other document means such agreement, instrument or other document as amended, supplemented and modified from time to time to the extent permitted by the provisions thereof and (z) to a statute means such statute as amended from time to time and includes any successor legislation thereto and any regulations promulgated thereunder. This Agreement shall be construed without regard to any presumption or rule requiring construction or interpretation against the party drafting an instrument or causing any instrument to be drafted. The Disclosure Schedules and Exhibits referred to herein shall be construed with, and as an integral part of, this Agreement to the same extent as if they were set forth verbatim herein. Further, the parties hereto acknowledge that, (A) notwithstanding the use of the phrase "determined without giving effect to the transactions contemplated herein," (i) the preparation of each of the Closing Transaction Expenses Certificate (including the Estimated Transaction

Expenses), the Closing Working Capital (including Current Liabilities), the Estimated Closing Statement and Closing Statement (including all documents accompanying each), and the Closing Date Payment shall not include the line of credit, which will be reassigned to an Affiliate of the Company effective on or before the Closing Effective Time, and (ii) the Target Working Capital was also prepared excluding the line of credit; and (B) accrued interest related to the line of credit is included in the calculation of Target Working Capital, and such accrued interest shall be paid by the Company immediately prior to the Closing, but the parties acknowledge that such payoff will result in zero net change to the Closing Working Capital and shall therefore be of no consequence to the preparation of the documents referenced in clause (A)(i) above.

Section 10.04 Headings. The headings in this Agreement are for reference only and shall not affect the interpretation of this Agreement.

Section 10.05 Severability. If any term or provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other term or provision of this Agreement or invalidate or render unenforceable such term or provision in any other jurisdiction. Except as provided in Section 5.07(e), upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the parties hereto shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible in a mutually acceptable manner in order that the transactions contemplated hereby be consummated as originally contemplated to the greatest extent possible.

Section 10.06 Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the Ancillary Documents constitute the sole and entire agreement of the parties to this Agreement with respect to the subject matter contained herein and therein, and supersede all prior and contemporaneous understandings and agreements, both written and oral, with respect to such subject matter. In the event of any inconsistency between the statements in the body of this Agreement and those in the Ancillary Documents, the Exhibits and Disclosure Schedules (other than an exception expressly set forth as such in the Disclosure Schedules), the statements in the body of this Agreement will control.

Section 10.07 Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns. Neither party may assign its rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of the other party, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed; *provided, however*, that prior to the Closing Date, Buyer may, without the prior written consent of Seller, assign all or any portion of its rights under this Agreement to one or more of its direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries. No assignment shall relieve the assigning party of any of its obligations hereunder.

Section 10.08 No Third-Party Beneficiaries. Except as provided in Section 6.03 and ARTICLE VIII, this Agreement is for the sole benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns and nothing herein, express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon any other Person or entity any legal or equitable right, benefit or remedy of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Agreement; *provided that*, notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, each of Buyer, Seller and Parent, on behalf of itself and each of its respective controlled Affiliates (including the Company) hereby agrees that each

Debt Financing Source is an express third-party beneficiary of, and may enforce, Section 8.09, this Section 10.08, Section 10.09, Section 10.10, Section 10.11, Section 10.12(c) and Section 10.12(d) (and such provisions shall not be amended in any way adverse to any Debt Financing Source without its prior written consent, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).

Section 10.09 Amendment and Modification; Waiver. This Agreement may only be amended, modified or supplemented by an agreement in writing signed by each party hereto. No waiver by any party of any of the provisions hereof shall be effective unless explicitly set forth in writing and signed by the party so waiving. No waiver by any party shall operate or be construed as a waiver in respect of any failure, breach or default not expressly identified by such written waiver, whether of a similar or different character, and whether occurring before or after that waiver. No failure to exercise, or delay in exercising, any right, remedy, power or privilege arising from this Agreement shall operate or be construed as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right, remedy, power or privilege hereunder preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, remedy, power or privilege.

Section 10.10 Governing Law; Submission to Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury Trial.

- (a) This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Delaware without giving effect to any choice or conflict of law provision or rule (whether of the State of Delaware or any other jurisdiction).
- (b) ANY LEGAL SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR BASED UPON THIS AGREEMENT, THE ANCILLARY DOCUMENTS OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY MAY BE INSTITUTED IN THE COURT OF CHANCERY IN THE STATE OF DELAWARE (OR, IF THE COURT OF CHANCERY OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE DECLINES TO ACCEPT OR DOES NOT HAVE JURISDICTION, ANOTHER STATE COURT LOCATED WITHIN THE STATE OF DELAWARE OR, IF NO STATE COURT LOCATED WITHIN THE STATE OF DELAWARE HAS JURISDICTION, THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE), AND ANY APPELLATE COURT FROM ANY THEREOF, AND EACH PARTY IRREVOCABLY SUBMITS TO THE EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF SUCH COURTS IN ANY SUCH SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING. SERVICE OF PROCESS, SUMMONS, NOTICE OR OTHER DOCUMENT BY MAIL TO SUCH PARTY'S ADDRESS SET FORTH HEREIN SHALL BE EFFECTIVE SERVICE OF PROCESS FOR ANY SUIT, ACTION OR OTHER PROCEEDING BROUGHT IN ANY SUCH COURT. THE PARTIES IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVE ANY OBJECTION TO THE LAYING OF VENUE OF ANY SUIT, ACTION OR ANY PROCEEDING IN SUCH COURTS AND IRREVOCABLY WAIVE AND AGREE NOT TO PLEAD OR CLAIM IN ANY SUCH COURT THAT ANY SUCH SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING BROUGHT IN ANY SUCH COURT HAS BEEN BROUGHT IN AN INCONVENIENT FORUM. NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING TO THE CONTRARY CONTAINED IN THIS AGREEMENT, THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY FURTHER AGREE THAT (X) ANY CLAIMS BROUGHT AGAINST ANY DEBT FINANCING SOURCE WILL BE GOVERNED BY, AND

CONSTRUED AND ENFORCED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE INTERNAL LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO CONFLICT-OF-LAWS PRINCIPLES THAT MIGHT REQUIRE THE APPLICATION OF THE LAWS OF ANY OTHER JURISDICTION AND (Y) NO PARTY WILL, AND NO PARTY WILL PERMIT ANY OF ITS RESPECTIVE AFFILIATES TO, BRING OR SUPPORT ANY LEGAL ACTION OR PROCEEDING AGAINST ANY DEBT FINANCING SOURCE IN ANY WAY RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT (OR ANY OF THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY), INCLUDING ANY DISPUTE ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING IN ANY WAY TO ANY DEBT FINANCING DOCUMENT OR THE DEBT FINANCING OR THE PERFORMANCE THEREOF, IN ANY FORUM OTHER THAN ANY NEW YORK STATE COURT SITTING IN THE BOROUGH OF MANHATTAN, OR, IF, UNDER APPLICABLE LAW, EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION IS VESTED IN THE FEDERAL COURTS, THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK (AND APPELLATE COURTS THEREOF), AND EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY CONSENTS TO THE EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF SUCH COURTS (AND OF THE APPROPRIATE APPELLATE COURTS) IN ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING AND WAIVES ANY OBJECTION TO VENUE LAID THEREIN.

(c) EACH PARTY ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT ANY CONTROVERSY WHICH MAY ARISE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT OR THE ANCILLARY DOCUMENTS IS LIKELY TO INVOLVE COMPLICATED AND DIFFICULT ISSUES AND, THEREFORE, EACH SUCH PARTY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY LEGAL SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, THE ANCILLARY DOCUMENTS OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY. EACH PARTY TO THIS AGREEMENT CERTIFIES AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT (A) NO REPRESENTATIVE OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER IN THE EVENT OF A LEGAL SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING, (B) SUCH PARTY HAS CONSIDERED THE IMPLICATIONS OF THIS WAIVER, (C) SUCH PARTY MAKES THIS WAIVER VOLUNTARILY, AND (D) SUCH PARTY HAS BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION 10.10(c).

Section 10.11 Specific Performance. The parties agree that a breach of this Agreement would give rise to irreparable harm, for which monetary damages would not be an adequate remedy, and that in the event of a breach or a threatened breach by a party of this Agreement, the other party shall, in addition to any and all other rights and remedies that may be available to it in respect of such breach, be entitled to equitable relief, including a temporary restraining order, an injunction, specific performance and any other relief that may be available from a court of competent jurisdiction (without any requirement to post bond).

Section 10.12 Non-Recourse; Release.

- (a) This Agreement and each of the Ancillary Documents may only be enforced against, and any claim, action, suit or other legal proceeding based upon, arising out of, or related to this Agreement or any Ancillary Document, or the negotiation, execution or performance of this Agreement or any Ancillary Document, may only be brought against the entities that are expressly named as parties hereto or thereto, respectively, and then only with respect to the specific obligations set forth herein or therein with respect to such party. No past, present or future director, officer, employee, incorporator, manager, member, partner, stockholder, Affiliate, agent, attorney or other Representative of any party hereto or thereto or of any Affiliate of any party hereto or thereto, or any of their successors or permitted assigns, shall have any liability for any obligations or liabilities of any party hereto under this Agreement or thereto under any Ancillary Document or for any claim or action based on, in respect of or by reason of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby.
- (b) Effective as of the Closing, Seller hereby irrevocably waives and releases the Company from any claims, rights, liabilities, actions, Indebtedness, damages, expenses or reimbursement obligations, in each case in connection with any matter whatsoever that occurred or arose at any time prior to the Closing; except for any rights of Seller under this Agreement or any Ancillary Document.
- (c) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, each party hereto, on behalf of itself and each of its controlled Affiliates, hereby: (i) agrees that any claim, action, suit or other legal proceeding, whether in law or in equity, whether in contract or in tort or otherwise, involving any Debt Financing Source, arising out of or relating to, this Agreement or any of the Debt Financing Documents or any of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby or the performance of any services thereunder shall be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of any federal or state court in the Borough of Manhattan, New York, New York, so long as such forum is and remains available, and any appellate court thereof and each party hereto irrevocably submits itself and its property with respect to any such claim, action, suit or other legal proceeding to the exclusive jurisdiction of such court, (ii) agrees that any such claim, action, suit or other legal proceeding shall be governed by the laws of the State of New York (without giving effect to any conflict of laws principles that would result in the application of the laws of another state), except as otherwise provided in any other applicable Debt Financing Document, (iii) agrees not to bring or support or permit any of its Affiliates to bring or support any claim, action, suit or other legal proceeding of any kind or description, whether in law or in equity, whether in contract or in tort or otherwise, against any Debt Financing Source in any way arising out of or relating to, this Agreement, any such Debt Financing, any such Debt Financing Document or any of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby or the performance of any services thereunder in any forum other than any federal or state court in the Borough of Manhattan, New York, New York, (iv) agrees that service of process upon such party and its controlled Affiliates in any such claim, action, suit or other legal proceeding shall be effective if notice is given in accordance with Section 10.02 (with respect to a Debt Financing Source, to the address of such Debt Financing Source that is specified in the Debt Financing Documents or, if no such address is specified, to the principal office of such Debt Financing Source), (v) irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent that it may

effectively do so, the defense of an inconvenient forum to the maintenance of such claim, action, suit or other legal proceeding in any such court, (vi) knowingly, intentionally and voluntarily waives to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law trial by jury in any claim, action, suit or other legal proceeding brought against any such Debt Financing Sources in any way arising out of or relating to, this Agreement, any such Debt Financing, any such Debt Financing Document or any of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby or the performance of any services thereunder, and (vii) agrees that no Debt Financing Source will to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law have any liability to Seller, Buyer, Parent or any of their respective Affiliates (including the Company) or Representatives relating to or arising out of this Agreement, any such Debt Financing, any such Debt Financing Document or any of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby or the performance of any services thereunder, whether in law or in equity, whether in contract or in tort or otherwise. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this Section 10.12(c) shall in any way limit or modify the rights and obligations of Buyer under this Agreement or any Debt Financing Document or any Debt Financing Source's obligations to Buyer or its applicable Affiliates or the rights of the Buyer and its applicable Affiliates to enforce any Debt Financing Document (including any commitment letter relating to the Debt Financing) against any such Debt Financing Source.

(d) Each of the parties hereto (i) agrees that none of the Debt Financing Sources will have any liability to Seller, Parent or any of their Affiliates and their respective Representatives and their respective permitted successors and assigns, relating to or arising out of this Agreement, the Debt Financing or any Debt Financing Document or any of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby or the performance of any services thereunder, whether in law or in equity, whether in contract or in tort or otherwise, and (ii) (A) waives any and all rights or claims against the Debt Financing Sources in connection with this Agreement, the Debt Financing or any Debt Financing Document or any of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby or the performance of any services thereunder, whether in law or equity, contract, tort or otherwise, and (B) agrees not to commence (and if commenced agrees to dismiss or otherwise terminate) any proceeding or legal or equitable action against any Debt Financing Source in connection with this Agreement, the Debt Financing or any Debt Financing Document or any of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby or the performance of any services thereunder (it being understood that nothing in this Section 10.12(d) shall limit (x) the rights of any of the parties to any Debt Financing Document or (y) any of Seller's rights or remedies under this Agreement against Buyer).

Section 10.13 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall be deemed to be one and the same agreement. A signature page of this Agreement executed by electronic means, including by DocuSign or other similar software, and/or a signed copy of this Agreement delivered by facsimile, e-mail or other means of electronic transmission, shall be deemed to have the same legal effect as delivery of an original, manually signed copy of this Agreement.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first written above by their duly authorized officers.

PHC UTILITIES, INC.

By: /s/ Morgan K. O'Brien

Name: Morgan K. O'Brien

Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

UNITIL CORPORATION

By: /s/ Thomas P. Meissner, Jr.

Name: Thomas P. Meissner, Jr.

Title: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

HEARTHSTONE UTILITIES, INC., d/b/a HOPE COMPANIES, INC.

By: /s/ Morgan K. O'Brien

Name: Morgan K. O'Brien

Title: President and Chief Executive Officer



FOR RELEASE

Unitil to Purchase Bangor Natural Gas Company from Hope Utilities, Inc.

HAMPTON, NH, July 9, 2024: Unitil Corporation (NYSE: UTL) (unitil.com) today announced that Unitil has agreed to purchase Bangor Natural Gas Company ("Bangor") from PHC Utilities, Inc., a subsidiary of Hope Utilities, Inc., for \$70.9 million on a debt-free basis, subject to customary adjustments for closing working capital and transaction expenses. Bangor's enterprise value represents a multiple of approximately 1.2 times its rate base (based on its estimated rate base as of December 31, 2023). Upon the closing of the transaction, which is expected to occur by the end of the first quarter of 2025, Bangor will become a wholly owned subsidiary of Unitil. The transaction is subject to approval by the Maine Public Utilities Commission as well as other conditions to closing.

"Bangor Natural Gas Company is a great complement to our current natural gas distribution operations in Maine," said Thomas P. Meissner, Jr., Unitil's Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. "Bangor brings a strong management team that is committed to providing safe, clean, reliable, and affordable energy to customers. We share their dedication to serving communities in Maine by providing responsive, high-quality service through locally-managed operations."

Bangor Natural Gas Company, which commenced operations in 1998, is a natural gas distribution company serving approximately 8,500 customers. Bangor owns and operates approximately 351 miles of distribution pipelines and nine miles of transmission pipelines.

Unitil plans to finance this transaction with a balanced mix of equity and debt to maintain its strong balance sheet, and has obtained committed debt financing from Scotiabank to fund the purchase price.

6 Liberty Lane West Hampton, NH 03842 T 603.772.0775 www.unitil.com



Unitil is being advised in this transaction by Scotiabank and by the law firm of Dentons.

About Unitil Corporation

Unitil Corporation provides energy for life by safely and reliably delivering electricity and natural gas in New England. We are committed to the communities we serve and to developing people, business practices, and technologies that lead to the delivery of dependable, more efficient energy. Unitil Corporation is a public utility holding company with operations in Maine, New Hampshire and Massachusetts. Together, Unitil's operating utilities serve approximately 108,500 electric customers and 88,400 natural gas customers. For more information about our people, technologies, and community involvement please visit unitil.com.

Forward-Looking Statements

This press release contains forward-looking statements. All statements, other than statements of historical fact, included in this press release are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements include declarations regarding Unitil's beliefs and current expectations. These forward-looking statements are subject to the inherent risks and uncertainties in predicting future results and conditions that could cause the actual results to differ materially from those projected in these forward-looking statements. Some, but not all, of the risks and uncertainties include the following: the ability of the parties to consummate the proposed purchase of Bangor in a timely manner or at all; the satisfaction of conditions precedent to consummation of the acquisition, including the ability to secure regulatory approvals; Unitil's ability to successfully complete its anticipated debt financing arrangements; Unitil's ability to successfully integrate Bangor; Unitil's ability to retain Bangor's management team and other

6 Liberty Lane West Hampton, NH 03842 T 603.772.0775 www.unitil.com



employees; Unitil's and Bangor's regulatory environment (including regulations relating to climate change, greenhouse gas emissions and other environmental matters); fluctuations in the supply of, the demand for, and the prices of, energy commodities and transmission and transportation capacity and Unitil's and Bangor's ability to recover energy commodity costs in its rates; customers' preferred energy sources; severe storms and Unitil's and Bangor's ability to recover storm costs in its rates; general economic conditions; variations in weather; long-term global climate change; unforeseen or changing circumstances, which could adversely affect the reduction of company-wide direct greenhouse gas emissions; Unitil's and Bangor's ability to retain its existing customers and attract new customers; increased competition; and other risks detailed in Unitil's filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission. These forward looking statements speak only as of the date they are made. Unitil undertakes no obligation, and does not intend, to update these forward-looking statements except as required by law.

For more information please contact:

Christopher Goulding – Investor Relations

Phone: 603-773-6466

Email: gouldingc@unitil.com

Alec O'Meara - External Affairs

Phone: 603-773-6404

Email: omeara@unitil.com

6 Liberty Lane West Hampton, NH 03842 T 603.772.0775 www.unitil.com